
Village of Lytton 
Council Meeting

Agenda - Wednesday January 26, 2022 at 7:00 pm 
Conducted via Zoom 

1 CALL TO ORDER 

2 ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

2.1 Agenda for the January 26, 2022 Regular Council Meeting 

2.2 Introduction of Late Items 

THAT Council adopt the agenda for the January 26, 2022 
Regular Council meeting as presented/amended. 

3 DELEGATIONS 

3.1 

3.2 

Mary Anne Coules, Stakeholder Engagement Advisor, 
Community Relation - Options for restoration of Hydro 
Services 

Paul Kovacs, Executive Director and Sophie Guilbault, 
Director of Partnerships, Institute for Catastrophic Loss 
Reduction (ISLR)  
Attachment: 2022-01-5 Institute for Catastrophic Loss Reduction 
Draft Submission re: Lytton’s Building Bylaw 

p. 6-28 

4 PUBLIC COMMENT 

Public are invited to comment on matters pertaining to the agenda, for up 
to two (2) minutes. Speakers must state their name, address and agenda 
item number they are speaking for each comment. 

5 ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

5.1 Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting 

THAT the minutes of the Regular Council Meeting held on 
Wednesday January 12, 2022, be adopted as 
presented/amended. 

p.29-34 

6 BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES/UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

6.1 Business Arising from the Minutes 

6.2 Unfinished Business 

a) Election Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022

Note: See the January 10, 2022 Ministerial Order M4
regarding the By-Election Exemption (Local Emergency)
Regulation.

p.35-39 

p.40-41 

Page 1 of 70



Village of Lytton - Regular Council Agenda 

THAT “Elections Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022” be 
adopted. 

7 STAFF REPORTS 

7.1 Chief Administrative Officer 

a) Recovery Plan Updates (January 12 - present)

7.2 Chief Financial Officer 

a) Fire Truck Acquisition – Financing

THAT Council receive the report on Fire Truck Acquisition
– Financing dated January 26, 2022.

b) Disaster Mitigation and Adaptation Fund (DMAF) Grant
Application - $200M

THAT Council receive the report dated January 26, 2022
with regards to DMAF Grant Application $200M and
provide direction to Staff as to next steps.

p. 42-43

p. 44-47

7.3 Corporate Officer 

7.4 Economic Development Officer 

7.5 Public Works 

7.6 Fire/Rescue 

8 BYLAWS, POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS 

8.1 a) Election Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022
(Provided earlier in the agenda) 

9 CORRESPONDENCE 

9.1 Correspondence for Action 

a) 2021-08-20 IBC Letter to Mayor Polderman & 2021-10-15
IBC Correspondence Regarding the Village of Lytton
Permitting Process for Debris Removal

THAT Council receive into the public record the Insurance
Bureau of Canada letters dated August 20, 2021 and
October 15, 2021.

b) 2021-12-16 Correspondence from Tricia Thorpe re:
Citizens’ Advisory Committee

p. 48-51

p. 52

Page 2 of 70



Village of Lytton - Regular Council Agenda 

THAT Council receive the correspondence from Tricia 
Thorpe and refer to the Citizens’ Advisory Committee. 

c) 2022-01-12 Correspondence from Lytton Resident Ross
Urquhart Requesting Responses to Questions

THAT Council receive the correspondence from Ross
Urquhart and refer to staff to provide public responses at
an upcoming meeting of Council.

d) 2022-01-20 SILGA Advocacy for 2021 Fire/Flood
Communities – Request for Information

THAT Council supports SILGA in an advocacy role to
lobby the provincial and federal government for adequate
funding supports in relation to recovery and restoration of
community assets damaged by fire / floods.

p. 54-60

p. 61

9.2 Correspondence for Information 

a) Incoming for Information
1) 2022-01-06 – Girl Guides Canada Landmark

Lighting Request

2) 2022-01-05 - Ministry of Transportation and
Infrastructure re: Speed Limits

3) 2022-01-12 - Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural
Resource Operations and Rural Development -
Updates to British Columbia’s Geographical
Naming Principles, Policy and Procedures

4) 2022-01-18 Ministry of Municipal Affairs - Investing
in Canada Infrastructure Program: Environmental
Quality Program – Application Intake Extended

5) 2022-01-21 Teck Highland Valley Copper
Management Change

THAT Council receive for information correspondence 
items 9.2(a) 1-5 of the January 26, 2022 Regular Council 
meeting.  

p. 62-63

p. 64-65

p. 66-67

p. 68-69

p. 70

b) Outgoing Relevant to Council

10 REPORTS FROM MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 

10.1 Mayor Polderman 

Page 3 of 70



Village of Lytton - Regular Council Agenda 

10.3 Councillor Hay 

10.4 Councillor Graie 

11 REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL AND COMMISSIONS 

11.1 Citizens’ Advisory Committee 

a) January 19, 2022 Meeting Report 

12 NEW BUSINESS 

12.1 Grant Applications for consideration by Climate Caucus 

13 CALENDAR OF EVENTS/OUSTANDING ITEMS LIST 

13.1 Citizens Advisory Committee – February 2, 2022 

13.2 Regular Council – February 9, 2022 

13.3 Town Hall Meeting – February 24, 2022 

14 CLOSED MEETING 

a) Items to be Released from Closed Session

b) Closed Session

THAT Council close the meeting to the public to discuss matters related to 
Community Charter sections: 

• 90(1)(a) personal information about an identifiable individual who holds or is
being considered for a position as an officer, employee or agent of the
municipality or another position appointed by the municipality;

• 90(1)(c) labour relations or other employee relations; 
• 90(1)(f) law enforcement, if the council considers that disclosure could

reasonably be expected to harm the conduct of an investigation under or
enforcement of an enactment;

• 90(1)(j) information that is prohibited, or information that if it were presented
in a document would be prohibited, from disclosure under section 21 of
the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act;

• 90(1)(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed
provision of a municipal service that are at their preliminary stages and that,
in the view of the council, could reasonably be expected to harm the
interests of the municipality if they were held in public;

• 90(1)(l) discussions with municipal officers and employees respecting
municipal objectives, measures and progress reports for the purposes of
preparing an annual report under section 98 [annual municipal report]; and

• 90(2)(b) the consideration of information received and held in confidence
relating to negotiations between the municipality and a provincial
government or the federal government or both, or between a provincial
government or the federal government or both and a third party.

Page 4 of 70



Village of Lytton - Regular Council Agenda 

15 ADJOURNMENT 

15.1 Adjournment of the January 26, 2022 Regular Council 
Meeting 

THAT the January 26, 2022 Regular Council Meeting be 
adjourned. 

Page 5 of 70



 

 

 
 
 
Protecting Lytton’s Buildings from Wildfire 
 
A Submission by the Institute for Catastrophic Loss Reduction 
for the Village of Lytton’s Draft Building Bylaw 750, 2021 
 
 

 
BC 2021 PSTA – WUI Threat Rating Map 

 
 
 
Draft – January 5, 2022 
 

Page 6 of 70



 

 
1 

1. Introduction 
 
The Village of Lytton has developed a progressive draft building bylaw that would increase the 
sustainability of buildings in the Village, and would serve to protect buildings from the devastating 
impacts of Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) fires. The Institute for Catastrophic Loss Reduction 
(ICLR) fully supports the concepts presented in the Village of Lytton’s Draft Building Bylaw No. 750 
(the Bylaw). Not only will application of the proposed construction and fuel management 
practices serve to protect the Village from WUI fire risks, the Village’s efforts will serve as a 
motivational example to communities across Canada as they work to respond to natural hazards 
and climate change impacts.  
 
There are opportunities to strengthen provisions in the Bylaw concerning protection of buildings 
and fuel management. Specifically, the current draft of the Bylaw draws on the 2018 International 
Wildland-Urban Interface Code (IWUIC), and ICLR believes the Bylaw should be amended to 
incorporate recent, Canadian guidance on protection of buildings from WUI fire.  
 
Released in June 2021, the NRC WUI Fire Guide was developed by Canadian experts and reflects 
construction practice in Canada. The NRC WUI Fire Guide is the product of four years of intense 
consultation, development, and critical review by a representative technical committee 
comprised of wildland fire and forestry experts, influential building industry associations, 
professional associations, and national and international wildfire and disaster risk reduction 
researchers. FireSmart Canada was involved in development of the NRC WUI Fire Guide, and 
recommendations are consistent with FireSmart principles concerning construction and fuel 
management. The proposed revisions to Bylaw No. 750 presented here are based largely on the 
NRC WUI Fire Guide, with a small number of amendments sourced from NFPA 1144 (2018).  
 
The benefits of applying measures outlined in this submission will far exceed their costs. 
Specifically, although the measures will add 1-2% to construction cost, they will also produce 
benefits 10 to 20 times greater, depending on design and other choices, over the life of WUI fire 
protected buildings in the Village of Lytton. 
 
Critical reviews of this submission were conducted by Stew Walkinshaw (Montane Forest 
Management Ltd.) and Kelly Johnston (Wildland Professional Solutions Inc.) in January, 2022. ICLR 
welcomes all comments and suggestions for the proposed provisions offered below, and 
welcomes opportunities to work with local professionals to revise and refine recommendations 
presented here.   
 
2. The costs and benefits of WUI fire resilience in Lytton, BC 
 
A wildfire during the 2021 Western North America heat wave destroyed most of the buildings and 
killed two people in Lytton, British Columbia, on June 30, 2021. Lytton now faces costly decisions 
about how to recover. Among these: should it rebuild as fast as possible and with the same 
building regulations as before the fire, or require more fire-resistive construction? ICLR estimated 
the costs of rebuilding more fire-resistive buildings by adopting the provisions presented in this 
submission.  We also estimated costs of rebuilding to current standards. And we estimated how 

Page 7 of 70



 

 
2 

much future fire loss might be avoided with fire-resistive construction. Adopting the draft bylaw 
could add on the order of 1-2% to the construction cost, about $5,000 or so depending on design 
choices, compared with current standards. There would be savings as well. Considering current 
and rising fire risk, on a long-term average basis, fire-resistive construction will save 10 to 20 
times as much as it costs in reduced property and economic losses, with additional savings in life 
safety, response and recovery costs, peace of mind, and other benefits if a wildfire were to occur 
again in Lytton. 
 
To estimate these costs and benefits, we used methods we applied to an impact analysis for the 
National WUI Fire Guide [i]. We estimated the cost of both approaches for a random sample of 11 
Lytton buildings, using an international standard cost-estimation manual (RSMeans [ii]), a custom 
cost-estimation tool developed by the quantity survey and cost-consulting firm Hanscomb Ltd. [iii], 
and retail material costs at a nearby big-box construction supply store, the Home Depot in 
Kamloops. We estimated a range of costs for each item in the draft bylaw to account for the wide 
variety of available material and other design choices. We estimated the benefits of avoided 
future losses considering current and rising fire hazard [iv], and the reduced chance of ignition and 
reduced fire damage if ignition occurs, based on data from California after that state adopted 
similar measures [v,vi]. 
 
3. Comprehensive WUI Fire Protection Planning  
 
Building and fuel management provisions presented in this submission partially address 
legislation and planning, development considerations, and fuel management aspects of a 
comprehensive local WUI fire management plan. Additional topics corresponding with FireSmart’s 
seven disciplines should also be considered. Specifically, aside from incorporating wildfire 
protection into construction and fuel management via the Bylaw, it is recommended that the 
Village of Lytton consider development of a Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan (CWRP) using 
available guidance provided by the Province of BC.  
 
Appendices on maintenance of buildings and fuel management zones are included in this 
submission, though these maintenance practices may not be considered appropriate for a 
development bylaw. The Village of Lytton may consider alternative methods of achieving the 
protective measures outlined in the maintenance appendices (Appendices C(a) and L(a) below), 
including educational initiatives, incentives, and property management by-laws. These 
alternatives may be developed as part of a CWRP. 
 
Appendices L and L(a), concerning fuel management, are submitted for consideration by the 
Village of Lytton. ICLR recommends that the Village adopt the Structure Ignition Zone criteria 
outlined in this submission, or that the village develop a Priority Zone Site Plan with a qualified 
professional, which includes landscaping and forest vegetation management considerations. ICLR 
is willing to work with Wildland Professional Solutions Inc. to develop criteria for a Priority Zone 
Site Plan for the Village of Lytton, including supporting the development of a prescription for 
management of the outer Structure Ignition Zones (see Appendix L attached here).  

Page 8 of 70



 

 
3 

Contents 
 
Construction 
 
A. Suggested Revisions to Part 16 of the Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
(Buildings) 
 
B. Proposed Wording for Appendix C, Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
 
C. Proposed Appendix C(a) – Building Maintenance 
 
Fuel Management 
 
D. Suggested Revisions to Part 16 of the Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
(Vegetation Management) 
 
E. Proposed Wording for Appendix L, Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
 
F. Proposed Appendix L(a) – Structure Ignition Zone Maintenance 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 9 of 70



 

 
4 

A. Suggested Revisions to Part 16 of the Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
(Buildings) 
 
16.1. Protection of Construction against Wildland Urban Interface Fire 
 
16.1.1. Appendix C, as amended from time to time, is incorporated by reference to apply to 
construction of new Part 9 buildings and accessory structures. 
 
16.1.2. New Part 3 buildings shall comply with Appendix C, or Chapter 3 of the NRC WUI Fire 
Guide, as amended from time to time.  
 
16.1.3. Appendix C(a), as amended from time to time, is incorporated by reference to apply to 
maintenance of existing buildings.  
 
 
 
  

Page 10 of 70



 

 
5 

B. Proposed Wording for Appendix C, Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
 
 

Appendix C: 
 

Village of Lytton 
BUILDING BYLAW NO. 759, 2021 

Appendix C: Wildland Urban Interface Fire Protection for Buildings 
 
C.1 Scope 
 

1) Despite any other enactment, every Part 9 building and structure shall be constructed in 
accordance with this Bylaw. New Part 3 buildings shall comply with Appendix C, or Chapter 
3 of the NRC WUI Fire Guide, as amended from time to time. 

 
C.2 Objectives 
 

1) This Appendix addresses property protection by establishing construction measures for 
buildings. These measures are consistent with nationally recognized good practice for the 
protection of buildings exposed to WUI fires, including the NRC WUI Fire Guide. They are 
intended to mitigate the risk to buildings posed by exposure to WUI fire.  

 
2) WUI fire protection measures presented here are intended to protect structures only, do 

not provide for life safety, and do not allow for occupants to “shelter in place” during WUI 
fire events. 

 
C.3 Implementation 
 

1) The implementation of this Chapter may be achieved by 
a. using the recommended measures and guidelines as written, or 
b. complying with Chapter 3 of the NRC WUI Fire Guide, including application of 

alternative measures that achieve the same performance as intended by the stated 
objectives and functions described in Chapter 1 of the NRC WUI Fire Guide.  

 
C.4 Exposure Level and Construction Class 
 

1) In accordance with NRC WUI Fire Guide Clause 3.2.1.(4), the Exposure Level is High. 
 

2) In accordance with NRC WUI Fire Guide Clause 3.2.2., Table 7, CCR1(FR) shall be applied 
for all construction. 

 
Note: Appendix C assumes that a Hazard and Exposure Assessment, as outlined in Chapter 2 of the 
NRC WUI Fire Guide, has not been conducted.  A comprehensive Wildfire Risk Assessment may be 
conducted using guidance outlined in Chapter 2 of the NRC WUI Fire Guide, and/or may prepared 
by a qualified professional as part of a Community Wildfire Resiliency Plan. Where a Hazard and 

Page 11 of 70



 

 
6 

Exposure Assessment is conducted, alternative construction options may be applied, in accordance 
Chapter 3 (3.2.2.(1) Table 7) of the NRC WUI Fire Guide. 
 
C.5 Definitions 
 
Accessory structure: building or structure used to shelter or support any material, equipment, 
chattel, or occupancy other than a habitable building. 
 
Combustible material: Any material that, in the form in which it is used and under the conditions 
anticipated, will ignite and burn or will add appreciable heat to an ambient fire. 
 
Exposure level: degree to which structures are likely to be exposed to embers, radiation, or flame 
contact. 
 
Non-combustible material: [In relation to building materials] meets the acceptance criteria of 
CAN/ULC-S114, “Test for Determination of Non-Combustibility in Building Materials,” (NRC WUI 
Fire Guide) or material that used under the conditions anticipated, will not ignite, burn, support 
combustion, or release combustible vapours when subjected to fire or heat (NFPA 1144). 
 
NRC WUI Fire Guide: Bénichou N., Adelzadeh M., Singh J., Gomaa I., Elsagan N., Kinateder M., Ma 
C., Gaur A., Bwalya A., and Sultan M. (2021). National Guide for Wildland-Urban Interface Fires. 
National Research Council Canada: Ottawa, ON. 192 pp., available from https://nrc-
publications.canada.ca/eng/view/object/?id=3a0b337f-f980-418f-8ad8-6045d1abc3b3 
 
Structure Ignition Zones: zone around a building or other point source where specific fuel 
management measures are used (see Appendix L).  
 
Structure Ignition Zone 1A: Priority Zone that is immediately adjacent to a building and extends to 
1.5 m outward in all directions from the furthest projection of the building (see Appendix L). 
 
Structure Ignition Zone 1: Priority Zone that is beyond 1.5 m and extends to 10 m outward in all 
directions from the furthest projection of the building. Note 1 to entry: The main objective of the 
management of vegetation and combustible material in this zone is to create an environment that 
will not support fire of any kind (see Appendix L). 
 
Slope: upward or downward inclination of the earth’s surface (i.e., the deviation in terrain from 
level or flat ground). Slope is most commonly expressed as a percentage calculated as the vertical 
rise or fall in elevation divided by the horizontal distance and then multiplied by 100. 
 
Structure Ignition Zone: area in Priority Zones 1A to 3 around a specific structure and associated 
accessory structures, including all vegetation that constitutes potential fuel for ignition (see 
Appendix L). 
 
 
 

Page 12 of 70



 

 
7 

C.6. Construction Measures 
 
C.6.1. Existing Applicable Regulations 
 

1) Care shall be taken during implementation of this Appendix so as not to contravene the 
applicable codes, including relevant requirements of the NBC; provincial, or local codes; 
standards, including the British Columbia Building Code; and by-laws that apply to new 
construction and renovations in accordance with applicable law. 
 

2) Placeholder [Wording to be included here concerning designation of the Village of Lytton 
as a wildfire DPA in the Official Community Plan] 
 

3) Placeholder [Note that 3.3 in the Bylaw No. 750, 2021 (draft) states that the Bylaw does 
not apply to  fences and accessory buildings with floor areas less than 10 m2. These 
sentences should be amended to allow for the bylaw to apply to fences and accessory 
buildings for the purposes of managing WUI fire risk, and for application of Appendix C].  

 
C.6.2. Roofing Materials 
 

1) Roof coverings shall have a Class A classification when tested using CAN/ULC-S107, “Fire 
Tests of Roof Coverings”. 

 
2) Valley and hip flashing, roof penetration flashing, sill plate flashing, and any other flashing 

that could be exposed to accumulated embers shall be non-combustible. 
 

3) Drip edges shall 
a. be non-combustible, and 
b. extend at least 75 mm upslope from the edge of the roof. 

 
4) Roof penetrations, such as pipes, shall be non-combustible. 

 
5) Any gaps larger than 3 mm on the roof, including gaps at junctions or around penetrations 

or attachments, that could allow the entry of embers shall be sealed with non-combustible 
material. 

 
Note: Unacceptable roof cover materials include treated or untreated wood shakes.  
 
Note: For all roof cover products, follow manufacturers’ instructions concerning application of 
underlayment to achieve CAN/ULC-S107 Class A fire rating. 
 
Note: Cant strips, roof curbs, nailing strips, and similar components used in the installation of 
roofing may be combustible. 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 70



 

 
8 

C.6.3. Gutters and Downspouts 
 

1) Gutters and downspouts shall be: 
a. non-combustible, and 
b. fitted with corrosion-resistant, non-combustible screens or guards to prevent the 

buildup of combustible materials in the gutters and downspouts. 
 
C.6.4. Eaves Soffits and Roof Projections 
 

1) Eaves, soffits, and roof projections on buildings shall be finished with non-combustible 
material.  
 

2) Except as described in C.6.8. Service Openings and Vents, eaves, soffits, and roof 
projections shall be enclosed without openings. 

 
C.6.5. Exterior Walls 
 

1) The exterior wall cladding shall extend from the top of the foundation to 
a. the top plate (track) of the exterior wall, 
b. the bottom chord of the roof truss, 
c. the intersection of the exterior wall and the soffit, or 
d. the bottom of the built-up roof deck. 

 
2) All joints in the exterior wall cladding or related wall components shall be covered, sealed, 

overlapped, backed, or butt-jointed with no unprotected gaps greater than 3 mm. 
 

3) All openings and penetrations in the exterior wall cladding or related wall components 
shall be sealed with no gaps greater than 3 mm. 

 
4) Exterior vertical surfaces that are less than 200 mm from the ground or a deck, roof, or 

similar horizontal surface where embers may accumulate shall be protected on the 
exterior by 

a. non-combustible material, or 
b. at least one layer of Type X exterior gypsum sheathing or cement board. 

 
5) Exterior walls shall be constructed by using the construction specifications presented in 

Table 9.10.3.1.-A of the British Columbia Building Code (as appropriate) of not less than 1 
h. 

 
6) Exterior wall assemblies shall 

a. be clad with masonry or concrete having a thickness not less than 25 mm, or 
b. meet the recommended acceptance criteria stated in Table 9 in Chapter 3 of the 

NRC WUI Fire Guide when tested using ASTM E2707, “Standard Test Method for 
Determining Fire Penetration of Exterior Wall Assemblies Using a Direct Flame 
Impingement Exposure”. 

Page 14 of 70



 

 
9 

 
Note: Log wall and fire-retardant-treated wood cladding (combustible cladding) is not approved 
by this Bylaw.  
 
Note: In accordance with the NRC WUI Fire Guide, Clause C.6.5.(5) assumes that none of the 
Structure Ignition Zones identified in Appendix L have been managed, including SIZ 1A. 
 
C.6.6. Foundation Walls 
 

1) Foundation walls shall be constructed of concrete or unit masonry. 
 

2) All joints in the external wall cladding or related wall components of the foundation wall 
shall be covered, sealed, overlapped, backed or butt-jointed with no unprotected gaps 
greater than 3 mm. 

 
3) All openings and penetrations in the exterior wall cladding or related wall components of 

the foundation wall shall be sealed with no gaps greater than 3 mm. 
 
C.6.7. Raised or Elevated Buildings 
 

1) All supporting elements for a raised or elevated building shall be of non-combustible 
construction. 

 
2) Spaces underneath a raised or elevated building shall be enclosed with non-combustible 

material to prevent storage under the building and to discourage growth of vegetation. 
 
C.6.8. Service Openings and Vents 
 

1) Openings required for soffit venting or the ventilation of roof spaces shall be screened 
with ember-resistant rated vents or corrosion-resistant, non-combustible mesh with a 
maximum mesh aperture of 3 mm. 

 
2) Where required for the ventilation of wall assemblies, ventilation gaps greater than 3 mm 

in width shall be covered by non-combustible screening with a maximum mesh aperture of 
3 mm. 

 
C.6.9. Doors and Windows 
 

1) Exterior doors on buildings shall 
a. be non-combustible, and 
b. have a fire-protection rating of not less than 20 min when tested using CAN/ULC-

S104, “Standard Method for Fire Tests of Door Assemblies”. 
 

2) Glazing in exterior doors* shall 
a. include an outer pane of tempered or heat-strengthened glass, 

Page 15 of 70



 

 
10 

b. be multi-layered glazed panels, or 
c. have a fire-resistive rating of not less than 20 minutes.  

 
3) Where installed, secondary screen doors provided for exterior doors shall 

a. be non-combustible, 
b. be fitted with  

i) a corrosion-resistant, non-combustible wire mesh with a maximum 
mesh aperture of 3 mm, or  

ii) shutters conforming to Sentence (6), 
c. have no gaps greater than 3 mm at the perimeter of the screen assembly where it 

is fitted to the door, and 
d. be equipped with a self-closing device to keep the screen door in the closed 

position when not in use. 
 

4) Window glazing and skylights* shall 
a. be tested using SFM Standard 12-7A-2, “Exterior Windows,”  
b. be tempered glass, multi-layered glazed panels, glass block, or 
c. have a fire-resistive rating of not less than 20 minutes.  

 
5) All windows shall be fitted with a screen that 

a. is made of corrosion-resistant, non-combustible wire mesh with a maximum mesh 
aperture of 3 mm, 

b. has no gaps greater than 3 mm at its perimeter where it is fitted to the window, 
and 

c. is supported by a metal frame. 
 

6) Where installed, shutters shall 
a. be made of non-combustible material, 
b. be fixed to the building, 
c. when in the closed position, have no gaps greater than 3 mm between the shutter 

and the wall, the sill, or the head, 
d. be readily manually operable from either inside or outside, and 
e. protect the entire window assembly or door assembly. 

 
*Note: Glazing recommendations provided in NFPA 1144 (2018) Clause 5.7.1. are included as 
options in this by-law due to lack of availability of products in Central BC that comply with NRC 
WUI Fire Guide glazing recommendations (including tempered or heat-strengthened glass for 
outer panes, and testing according to SFM Standard 12-7A-2, “Exterior Windows”). 
 
C.6.10. Decks*, Balconies, and Other Building Attachments 
 

1) Decks, balconies, porches, and other similar building elements or buildings attached to or 
within 10 m of the primary building structure shall be constructed of non-combustible 
materials. 

 

Page 16 of 70



 

 
11 

2) All graded surfaces below decks, balconies, porches, raised buildings, and other similar 
building extensions shall be non-combustible surface materials. 

 
*Decks are considered to include any attached stairs and membranes. 
 
 
C.6.11. Fences 
 

1) Fencing within 10 m of the furthest projection of the building shall be constructed of non-
combustible materials. 

 
C.6.12. Liquefied Petroleum Gas Tanks 
 

1) Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) tanks rest upon a non-combustible surface that extends not 
less than 1.5 m outward in all directions from the perimeter of the tank. 

 
2) All vegetation and combustible material shall be removed within a zone of not less than 3 

m extending outward in all directions from the perimeter of LPG tanks. The distance 
between overhead tree limbs and LPG tanks shall be assessed using the outer extent of 
limbs.  

 
3) The clearance between an LPG tank and any building wall shall be not less than 10 m. 

 
C.6.13. Accessory Structures 
 

1) Accessory structures shall be constructed to meet the requirements of this Appendix or 
shall be separated from the main structure by a minimum of 10 m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 17 of 70



 

 
12 

C. Proposed Appendix C(a) – Building Maintenance 
 

Appendix C(a): Maintenance to Protect Buildings from WUI Fire Impacts 
 

Village of Lytton 
BUILDING BYLAW NO. 759, 2021 

 
C(a).1. Gutters and Downspouts 
 

1) Gutters and downspouts shall be regularly cleaned to remove accumulated material from 
gutters and guard surfaces. 

 
C(a).2. Roof, Exterior Siding, Deck Replacement 
 

1) Roof covering on buildings or structures in existence prior to the adoption of this Bylaw 
that are replaced or have 25 percent or more replaced in a 12-month period shall be 
replaced with a roof covering required for new construction, as in Appendix C Clause C.6.2 
Roofing Materials. 
 

2) Exterior siding on buildings or structures in existence prior to the adoption of this Bylaw 
that are replaced or have 25 percent or more replaced in a 12-month period shall be 
replaced with exterior siding required for new construction, as in Appendix C Clause C.6.5 
Exterior Walls.  

 
3) Decks, balconies, porches, and other similar building elements in existence prior to the 

adoption of this Bylaw that are replaced or have 25 percent or more replaced in a 12-
month period shall be replaced with materials required for new construction, as in 
Appendix C Clause C.6.10 Decks, Balconies, and Other Building Attachments. 

 
C(a).4. Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) Tanks 
 

1) LPG tanks shall be not stored under a deck, balcony, or roof eave or soffit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 18 of 70



 

 
13 

D. Suggested Revisions to Part 16 of the Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
(Vegetation Management) 
 
16.5. For certainty, every new building is subject to submission to the building official of a 
fuel management plan for all appropriate Structure Ignition Zones for the development lot (see 
Appendix L). 
 
16.5.1. Appendix L(a) as amended from time to time, is incorporated by reference to apply to 
maintenance of Structure Ignition Zones outlined in Appendix L. 
  

Page 19 of 70



 

 
14 

E. Proposed Wording for Appendix L, Village of Lytton’s Building Bylaw No. 750, 2021 
 

Village of Lytton 
BYLAW No. 750, 2021 

Appendix L 
Structure Ignition Zones 

 
L.1. Definitions 
 
Exposed building face: that part of the exterior wall of a building that faces one direction and is 
located between ground level and the ceiling of its top storey, as well as, for the purposes of this 
Bylaw, the roof above that part of the exterior wall. 
 
Firebreak: barrier to fire spread built by clearing or significantly thinning fuels on a strip of 
strategically located land. 
 
Fuel break: trench dug down to mineral soil that stops surface fire spread. 
 
Non-combustible material: [In relation to building materials] meets the acceptance criteria of 
CAN/ULC-S114, “Test for Determination of Non-Combustibility in Building Materials,” (NRC WUI 
Fire Guide) or material that used under the conditions anticipated, will not ignite, burn, support 
combustion, or release combustible vapours when subjected to fire or heat (NFPA 1144). 
 
NRC WUI Fire Guide: Bénichou N., Adelzadeh M., Singh J., Gomaa I., Elsagan N., Kinateder M., Ma 
C., Gaur A., Bwalya A., and Sultan M. (2021). National Guide for Wildland-Urban Interface Fires. 
National Research Council Canada: Ottawa, ON. 192 pp., available from https://nrc-
publications.canada.ca/eng/view/object/?id=3a0b337f-f980-418f-8ad8-6045d1abc3b3 
 
Structure Ignition Zones: zone around a building or other point source where specific fuel 
management measures are used.  
 
Structure Ignition Zone 1A: Priority Zone that is immediately adjacent to a building and extends to 
1.5 m outward in all directions from the furthest projection of the building. 
 
Structure Ignition Zone 1: Priority Zone that is beyond 1.5 m and extends to 10 m outward in all 
directions from the furthest projection of the building. Note 1 to entry: The main objective of the 
management of vegetation and combustible material in this zone is to create an environment that 
will not support fire of any kind. 
 
Slope: upward or downward inclination of the earth’s surface (i.e., the deviation in terrain from 
level or flat ground). Slope is most commonly expressed as a percentage calculated as the vertical 
rise or fall in elevation divided by the horizontal distance and then multiplied by 100. 
 
Structure Ignition Zone: area in Priority Zones 1A to 3 around a specific structure and associated 
accessory structures, including all vegetation that constitutes potential fuel for ignition. 

Page 20 of 70



 

 
15 

L.2 Structure Ignition Zones 
 
In addition to the construction measures stated in Appendix C, fuel shall be managed in zones 
within a certain radius of the structure, which are called Structure Ignition Zones.  
 
Figure L.1, which is based on the FireSmart zone concept, shows a definition of the Structure 
Ignition Zone, which includes Priority Zones 1A to 3. 
 
 
Figure L.1. The Structure Ignition Zones extend outward in all directions within the indicated 
distances from the furthest projection of the building. Note that zone radii are not to scale. 

 

Structure 

Page 21 of 70



 

 
16 

L.3. Structure Ignition Zones Requirements 

L.3.1. Structure Ignition Zone 1A 

1) Within a zone of not more than 1.5 m extending outward in all directions from 
the furthest projection of the building, the following measures shall be used: 

a) vegetation and combustible material, including woody shrubs, 
trees, and tree branches, shall be completely removed down to 
mineral soil, and 

b) non-combustible materials, such as gravel, brick, and concrete, shall 
be used for landscaping features. 

 
L.3.2. Structure Ignition Zone 1 

   Within a zone beyond 1.5 m and not more than 10 m extending outward in all 
directions from the furthest projection of the building, the following measures shall 
be used: 

a) over-mature, dead, and dying trees with potential to ignite and carry 
fire shall be removed, 

b) highly flammable species of trees with potential to ignite and carry fire 
shall be removed, 

c) vegetation shall be thinned and pruned to prevent a fire from being 
carried toward or away from the building, 

d) remaining vegetation shall be converted to less fire-prone species 
if compatible with ecological considerations, 

e) combustible debris and items, including firewood piles, construction 
materials, furniture, decorative items, trailers, recreational vehicles, 
storage sheds, and ancillary or accessory structures that are not in 
compliance with Appendix C, shall not be present, and 

f) firebreaks shall be provided as described in Clause L.3.7. Firebreaks and Fuel 
Breaks, where 
i) a slope increases the WUI fire risk to the building or the subdivision, or 
ii) the building is located adjacent to a slope without the setback 

required by Clause L.3.6. Setbacks. 
 

L.3.3. Structure Ignition Zone 2 

1) Except as described in Sentence (2), within a zone beyond 10 m and not more than 
30 m extending outward in all directions from the furthest projection of the building, 
the following measures shall be used: 

a) fuel shall be reduced through selective removal of coniferous trees 
to maintain a horizontal separation not less than 3 m between single 
and grouped tree crowns, 

b) branches located up to a height not less than 2 m from the ground shall 

Page 22 of 70



 

 
17 

be removed from remaining trees, and 
c) accumulations of fallen branches, dry grass, and needles shall be removed 

to the greatest extent reasonably practicable. 
 

2) The outer radius of the zone described in Sentence (1) shall be adjusted for slope as 
described in Clause L.3.5. Slope Adjusted Priority Zones.  

 

L.3.4. Structure Ignition Zone 3 

1) Except as described in Sentence (2), within a zone beyond 30 m and not more than 
100 m extending outward in all directions from the furthest projection of the building, 
the measures of Clause L.3.2.(1)(c), L(a).2.(1)(b) in Appendix L(a), and Clause L.3.3.(1) 
shall be used. 
 

2) The outer radius of the zone described in Sentence (1) shall be adjusted for slope as 
described in Clause L.3.5. Slope-Adjusted Priority Zones. 

 
Note: Structure Ignition Zone 3 may managed by a forest professional through the development of a fuel 
management prescription. 
 
L.3.5. Slope-Adjusted Priority Zones 
 

1) Except as described in Sentence (2), the outer radii of Priority Zones 2 and 3 shall be 
adjusted for slope as described in Sentences (3) and (4).*  

 
2) The adjustment for slope described in Sentence (1) need not apply where the effects of 

slope in Priority Zone 3 and Exposure Zone 4† are considered through the use of the 
detailed method to assess the Exposure Level of the building, as described in Chapter 2 
of the NRC WUI Fire Guide. 

 
3) Where the slope of Priority Zone 2 or 3 is greater than 30% and less than or equal 

to 55%, the outer radius of the zone shall be increased (see Figure L.2.) by 
a) a factor of 2 in the downslope direction, and 
b) a factor of 1.5 in the horizontal direction. 

 
4) Where the slope of Priority Zone 2 or 3 is greater than 55%, the outer radius of the 

zone shall be increased (see Figure L.2.) by 
a) a factor of 4 in the downslope direction, and 
b) a factor of 2 in the horizontal direction. 

 
*The location of the inner radius of Zone 3 shifts to coincide with the new position of the outer 
radius of Zone 2 after any adjustment. 
 
†100–500 m from the structure – see NRC WUI Fire Guide Chapter 2. 
 

Page 23 of 70



 

 
18 

 
Figure L.2. Adjustment of Priority Zones 2 and 3 for slope, as described in Clause L.2.5. 
 
 

 
 
 
L.3.6. Setbacks 
 

1) Except as described in Sentence (2), it is recommended that buildings in Structure 
Ignition Zone 1 be located at a distance not less than 10 m from the crest of any hill 
(see Figure L.3). 

 
2) Where a setback as described in Sentence (1) is not possible, the Construction Class of 

the exposed building face facing the downslope shall be taken as CC1(FR). 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 70



 

 
19 

 
Note: The Current iteration of Appendix C provides construction requirements in compliance 
with CC1(FR). L.2.6. applies only where  other construction classes, as outlined in the NRC WUI 
Fire Guide, are applied.  
 
Figure L.3. Example setback, as described in L.2.6. Setbacks.  

 
 

L.3.7. Firebreaks and Fuel Breaks 

1) The minimum width of the firebreak described in Clause L.3.2.(f) shall be based on 
the magnitude of the slope in accordance with Table L.1. 

 
Table L.1: Minimum Width of Firebreaks 

Slope, % Minimum Width of Firebreak, 
m 

≤ 5 30 

> 5 and ≤ 15 40 

> 15 50 
 
 

2) Fuel breaks shall be provided on both sides of the firebreak referred to in Sentence (1) 
(see Figure L.4). 

 
3) Vegetative fuels shall be completely removed down to mineral soil from the fuel breaks 

referred to in Sentence (2). 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 25 of 70



 

 
20 

 
 
Figure L.4. Fuel breaks on both sides of a firebreak, as described in Clause L.3.7.(2) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 26 of 70



 

 
21 

F. Proposed Appendix L(a) – Structure Ignition Zone Maintenance 
 

Appendix L(a): Structure Ignition Zone Maintenance 
 

Village of Lytton 
BUILDING BYLAW NO. 759, 2021 

 
 
L(a).1. Priority Zone 1A 
 

1) For raised or elevated buildings, combustible materials shall not be stored underneath 
the building and the accumulation of combustible debris underneath the building shall 
be prevented by the installation of a non-removable mesh or guard made of corrosion- 
resistant, non-combustible material, per Appendix C, Clause C.6.7.(2).  

 
L(a).2. Structure Ignition Zone 1 
 

1) Within a zone beyond 1.5 m and not more than 10 m extending outward in all directions 
from the furthest projection of the building, the following measures shall be used:  

a) annual grasses shall be mowed to a height of not more than 10 cm, and 
b) ground litter and downed trees shall be removed at a frequency not less than 

annually. 
 
 
 
  

Page 27 of 70



 

 
22 

References Cited: Introduction/Cost Benefit Assessment 
 

i  Porter, K.A., Scawthorn, C.R., and Sandink, D. (2021). An Impact Analysis for the National Guide for 
Wildland-Urban Interface Fires. Prepared for the National Research Council of Canada. Institute for Catastrophic 
Loss Reduction, Toronto, ON, 136 p. 
ii  RSMeans (2020). Contractor’s Pricing Guide: Residential Repair & Remodeling Costs with RSMeans Data 
2021. Gordian, Greenville, SC, 339 p. 
iii  Hanscomb Ltd. (2019). Costing of WUI Guide for Canada Compliant Building Materials. Institute for 
Catastrophic Loss Reduction, Toronto, ON. Unpublished. 
iv  Erni, S., Wang, X., Taylor, S., Boulanger, Y., Swystun, T., Flannigan, M., and Parisien, M.A. (2020). 
Developing a two-level fire regime zonation system for Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 50, 259–273. 
https://cdnsciencepub.com/doi/10.1139/cjfr-2019-0191 [accessed December 7, 2020] 
v  State of California. (2012). Materials and construction methods for exterior wildfire exposure. California 
Building Code, Title 25, Chapter 3, Subchapter 2, Manufactured Homes, Mobilehomes, Multifamily Manufactured 
Homes, Commercial Modulars, And Special Purpose Commercial Modulars, Article 2.3. Ignition Resistant 
Construction Systems. https://www.hcd.ca.gov/building-standards/state-housing-law/wildland-urban-
interface/docs/mh_regs_article2-3(10-12).pdf [accessed October 22, 2020] 
vi  CAL FIRE. (2020). A Database of Buildings Affected by 2018 Camp Fire. (file 
Camp_DINS_DSpace_output_w_all_1NC_C_1NC_only_No_Damage_Destroyed_only_final.csv) Sacramento, CA. 

Page 28 of 70



 

Village of Lytton 
Council Meeting 

Minutes - Wednesday January 12, 2022 at 7:00 pm 
Conducted via Zoom 

 
Council Present: Mayor Polderman, Councillor Graie, Councillor Hay 

Staff Present: Ron Mattiussi, Policy Group Liaison Advisor  
Terry Hawes, Financial Officer 
Alison Poste, Recovery Manager  
 

Guests: Public 
 

Regrets: Leslie Groulx, Acting CAO 
Shannon Story, Corporate Recovery Lead 

 
1 CALL TO ORDER @ 7:00pm 

 
2 ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 2.1 Agenda for the January 12, 2022 Regular Council Meeting 

 
 

 2.2 
 
22-010 
 

Introduction of Late Items 
 
Moved by Ian Hay, seconded by Lillian Graie  
THAT Council adopt the agenda for the January 12, 2022 Regular 
Council meeting as presented/amended. 
 

 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

3 DELEGATIONS 
    
4 PUBLIC COMMENT  
  

The public provided general comments in respect to the issues around debris 
removal and expressed frustration with pending Building Bylaw No, 750.  
 

 

5 ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 5.1 

 
 
22-011 
 

Minutes of the Special Council Meeting 
 
Moved by Lillian Graie, seconded by Ian Hay 
THAT the minutes of the Special Council meeting held on January 5, 
2022 be adopted as amended, amendment to resolution 22-005 as 
follows: 

 
THAT Council resolve to accept the Donations from St. Bartholomew’s 
Health Care Auxiliary and agree to honor the conditions and take the 
gaming interest over the to pay for the term of financial administration. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

Page 29 of 70



   

Village of Lytton Regular Council Minutes   Page 2 of 6 

6 BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES/UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 6.1 Business Arising from the Minutes  
    
 6.2 Unfinished Business  
  

 
 
 
22-012 
 
 
22-013 
 
 
 
 

a) Election Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022 (Corporate Recovery 
Lead)  
 

Moved by Ian Hay, seconded by Lillian Graie 
1. THAT “Elections Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022” be 

introduced and be read a first time. 
 

Moved by Lillian Graie, seconded by Ian Hay 
2. THAT “Elections Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022” receive 

second and third reading.   
 

b) Building Bylaw Updates (Director of Development- Ron 
Dickinson) 
Mr. Dickinson provided and update noting that there have 
been no changes at present, he is completing his investigation 
with regards to options and costs to the development of 
regulations and strategies in the bylaw.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

7 STAFF REPORTS 
 7.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
22-014 
 

Chief Administrative Officer 
a) Recovery Plan Updates (January 1 to present) 

Alison Poste, Recovery Manager noted that she would be 
providing a full update on the status of the Short-Term 
Recovery Plan at the Town Hall meeting on January 13, 2022.   
 

b) Water and Sewer Fees and Charges Bylaw Amendment 
 
Moved by Ian Hay, seconded by Lillian Graie 
THAT Council direct staff to prepare a bylaw amendment to 
Bylaw 696, 2018 Fees and Charges Bylaw specific to Schedule 
“D” Water Rates and Schedule “E” Sewer Rates; and 
 
 THAT the Bylaw reflect the increase to the water (4%) and 
sewer (2.5%) rates as outlined in the Staff Report (attached) 
presented on February 24, 2021. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

 7.2 Chief Financial Officer  
None. 

 
 

 7.3 Corporate Officer  
None. 

 
 

 7.4 Economic Development Officer  
None. 

 

Page 30 of 70



   

Village of Lytton Regular Council Minutes   Page 3 of 6 

 7.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
22-015 
 
 

Public Works 
a) Archeological Alteration Permit – Ron Dickinson, Director of 

Planning 
A discussion ensued in regards to what the process would look like 
if one entity is the permittee. 
 
Moved by Lillian Graie, seconded by Ian Hay  
THAT Council direct staff to investigate the advantages and 
implications of the Village of Lytton holding the Archeological 
Branch Site Alteration Permit required to preserve archeological 
material during the demolition, site remediation and rebuilding in 
the State of Local Emergency Area in Lytton. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

 7.6 Fire/Rescue  
None.  

 

8 Bylaws, Policies and Resolutions 
 8.1 Election Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022 

(Earlier in agenda) 
 

 
 

9 Correspondence 
 9.1 

 
 
 
 
22-016 
 

Incoming Correspondence for Action 
1) 2021-12-16 – Northern Development – 2021 Economic Capacity 

Building Project Funding  
 
Moved by Lillian Graie, seconded by Ian Hay 
THAT Council accept the funding provided by North Development 
Trust Initiative ($50,000-2021) and direct staff to complete the 
recruitment process to hire an Economic Development Officer, to 
include a job description, scope of work and expected deliverables 
in relation to implementing an economic capacity building strategy 
for 2022.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

 9.2 Incoming Correspondence for Information 
 

2) 2022-01-03 – Kanaka Bar Indian Band “Reaching Our Potential” 
Entrepreneurship Program Invitation  
(Invitation to added on the Village of Lytton Website) 
Mayor Polderman asked that staff have the invitation added to the 
Village website.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

10 Reports from Mayor and Councillors 
 10.1 

 
 
 
 
 

Mayor Polderman  
- "Hell or High Water” fundraiser is being planned – Lytton will 

be included, the organizer is looking for personal stories to 
include in advertisement 

- A communication strategy is being considered – staff is to work 
with Lytton Net 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 70



   

Village of Lytton Regular Council Minutes   Page 4 of 6 

 
 
 
22-017 
 

- A builder has approached the Mayor and has asked to present 
to Council 
 
Moved by Lillian Graie, seconded by Ian Hay 
THAT Council invite said builder to the next Council meeting to 
appear as a delegation. 
 

- Fraser Basin Council should be signing an agreement shortly 
with the Province to complete the medium to long term 
recovery plan 

- The lease agreement for the Aspen Planer mill site should be 
forth coming for ratification by Council 

- Looking for a community volunteer to participate in the Health 
Planning Table with Interior Health. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

 10.2 Councillor Hay 
- Lots of contact with residents over the last few weeks, and he 

has provided support to citizens where needed. 
 

 

 10.3 
 
 
 
 
 
22-018 
 

Councillor Graie 
- Asked that the Integrated Design Plan concept be reintroduced, 

requested that Council provide a Letter of Intent and or direct 
award to get the integrated planning process going.   
 
Moved by Ian Hay, seconded by Lillian Graie 
THAT staff be directed to investigate the costs, logistics and 
what staff time is needed to bring in the Integrated Design Plan 
team, with a report back to Council at the February 9, 2022 
Council meeting.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

    
11 REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL AND COMMISSIONS 
 11.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Citizens’ Advisory Committee 
a) January 5, 2022 Meeting Report 

Chair Hay provided an overview of the activities that have taken 
place at both the December 15, 2021 and the January 5, 2022 
Citizens Advisory Select Committee.  As part of this update Chair 
Hay reviewed the committees structure in relation to the 
Community Charter, the Council Procedures Bylaw and Roberts 
Rules of Order.   
 
Building Bylaw Amendments – an overview of the reasoning 
behind the recommendations put forth by the CASC was given.  
Chair Hay asked that Council take into consideration the three 
recommendations, noting that Council asked that the CASC 
investigate the use of Fire Retardant materials be included in the 
bylaw.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32 of 70



   

Village of Lytton Regular Council Minutes   Page 5 of 6 

 
 
22-019 
 
 
 
 
 
22-020 
 
 

 
Moved by Mayor Polderman, seconded by Lillian Graie 
THAT Council enact s. 29 of the Council Procedures Bylaw 692, 
that the matter be referred back to the Citizens Advisory Select 
Committee and be brought forth for consideration before second 
reading of Building Bylaw No. 750. 
 
Moved by Mayor Polderman, seconded by Lillian Graie 
THAT the inclusion of Fire Retardant materials in Building Bylaw 
750 be referred back to the Citizens Advisory Select Committee. 

 

 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

11.2 
 
 
22-021 

Leadership and Policy for Recovery Select Committee  
 
Moved by Lillian Graie, seconded by Ian Hay 
THAT the Leadership and Policy Recovery Committee be put in abeyance 
until such time that Council deems it necessary to reactive the committee. 
 

12 New Business 
    
13 Calendar of Events/Outstanding Items List 
 a) Citizens’ Advisory Committee Meeting January 19, 2022  

 
 

14 Closed Meeting 
 a) Items to be Released from Closed Session 

 
 

 
 
 

22-022 

b) Closed Session 
Moved by Ian Hay at 8:05 pm.   
THAT Council close the meeting to the public to discuss matters related 
to Community Charter under the following sections: 

• 90(1)(a) personal information about an identifiable individual 
who holds or is being considered for a position as an officer, 
employee or agent of the municipality or another position 
appointed by the municipality90(1)(c) labour relations or other 
employee relations; 

• 90(1)(i) the receipt of advice that is subject to solicitor-client 
privilege, including communications necessary for that purpose; 

• 90(1)(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the 
proposed provision of a municipal service that are at their 
preliminary stages and that, in the view of the council, could 
reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the municipality if 
they were held in public; 

• 90(2)(b) the consideration of information received and held in 
confidence relating to negotiations between the municipality 
and a provincial government or the federal government or both 
or between a provincial government or the federal government 
or both and a third party; 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

Page 33 of 70



   

Village of Lytton Regular Council Minutes   Page 6 of 6 

15 Adjournment 
 15.1 

 
 
22-023 

Adjournment of the January 12, 2022 Regular Council Meeting 
 
Moved by Ian Hay 
THAT the January 12, 2022 Regular Council Meeting be adjourned at 
9:15 pm. 

 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 
 

 

Page 34 of 70



VILLAGE OF LYTTON 

ELECTION PROCEDURES BYLAW NO. 708, 2022 
 

A bylaw to provide for the determination of various procedures for the 
conduct of elections, by-elections and assent voting. 

 
 

WHEREAS under the Local Government Act Council may, by bylaw, determine various 
procedures and requirements to be applied to the conduct of elections, by-elections and assent 
voting; 
 
AND WHEREAS, Council wishes to establish voting procedures and requirements under that 
authority; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Village of Lytton, in open meeting  assembled,  
ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 

1. CITATION 
 
This Bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Election Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022”. 
 
 

2. ACCESS TO NOMINATION DOCUMENTS 
 
As authorized  under Section 89(8) of the Local Government Act, public access to nomination 
documents will be provided on the Village of Lytton website from the time of delivery to the 
Chief Election Officer until 30 days after the declaration of the election results. 
 
 

3. ELECTOR REGISTRATION 
 
As authorized under Section 76 of the Local Government Act, for all elections and assent voting 
the most current available Provincial list of voters prepared under the Election Act, shall 
become the register of resident electors on the 52nd day prior to general voting day. 
 
 

4. ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
In accordance with Section 107 of the Local Government Act, a second advance voting 
opportunity will not be held. 
 
 

5. SPECIAL VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 

(1) As authorized under Section 109 of the Local Government Act the Chief Election 
Officer is authorized to establish special voting opportunities, and are hereby 
authorized to establish the dates, locations, and voting hours within the limits set out 
in the Act. For greater clarity, the Chief Election Officer has the discretion to 
determine whether or not to establish special voting opportunities. 

 
(2)  A special voting opportunity may be conducted outside of the boundaries of the 

municipality for which the election is being held. 
 
(3) The Chief Election Officer is authorized to limit the number of candidate Page 35 of 70



 

Bylaw 708 2022 – Election Procedures Bylaw   Page 2 of 5 
 

representatives who may be present at the special voting opportunity. 
 

 
6. ADDITIONAL GENERAL VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 

  
(1) As authorized under Section 106 of the Local Government Act, the Chief Election Officer is 

authorized to establish additional general voting opportunities and is hereby authorized to 
designate the voting places and set the voting hours within the limits set out in the Act. For 
greater clarity, the Chief Election Officer has the discretion to determine whether or not to 
establish special voting opportunities. 

 
 

7. MAIL BALLOT VOTING AND REGISTRATION AUTHORIZED 
 

(1) As authorized under Section 110 of the Local Government Act, voting by mail ballot and 
elector registration by mail in conjunction with mail ballot voting are hereby authorized. 
 

(2) Once a mail ballot package has been accepted by the Chief Election Officer, that voter may 
only vote by mail ballot. 

 
 

8. APPLICATION PROCEDURE FOR MAIL BALLOT 
 
(1) A person wishing to vote by mail ballot must apply by providing their name and address to the 

Chief Election Officer or to an election official designated by the Chief Election Officer for 
such purposes, during the period commencing at the date of declaration of election by voting 
and ending at 4:00 p.m. on the Thursday two days before general voting day. 
 

(2) Upon receipt of a request for a mail ballot, the Chief Election Officer or designate must, 
between the time that the ballots are received by the Chief Election Officer and 4:00 pm on 
the Thursday two days before general voting day: 
 
(a) Make available to the applicant, a mail ballot package as specified in Section 110(7) of 

the Local Government Act, together with, where required, an elector registration 
application: 

 
(b) Immediately record, and, upon request make available for inspection: 

(i) the name and address of the person to whom the mail ballot package was issued; 
and  

   (ii)   information as to whether or not the person is registered as an elector. 
 
 
9. VOTING PROCEDURE FOR MAIL BALLOT 

 
(1) In order to vote using a mail ballot, the elector must mark the ballot in accordance with the 

instructions contained in the mail ballot package provided by the Chief Election Officer. 
 

(2) After marking the mail ballot, the elector must: 
 

(a) place the mail ballot in the secrecy envelope provided, and seal the secrecy envelope; 
 

(b) place the secrecy envelope in the certification envelope provided, and complete and sign 
the certification printed on such envelope and then seal the certification envelope; 

  

Page 36 of 70



 

Bylaw 708 2022 – Election Procedures Bylaw   Page 3 of 5 
 

 
(c) place the certification envelope, together with a completed elector registration application, 

if required, in the outer envelope, and then seal the outer envelope; and 
 

(d) mail, or have delivered, the outer envelope and its contents to the chief election officer at 
the address specified so that it is received no later than the close of voting on general 
voting day. 

 
 

 
10. MAIL BALLOT ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION 

 
(1) Until 4:00 pm on the Thursday two days before general voting day, upon receipt of the 

outer envelope and its contents, the chief election officer or designate must immediately 
record the date of such receipt and must then open the outer envelope and remove and 
examine the certification envelope and the completed elector registration application, if 
applicable, and, if satisfied as to: 
 

(a) the identity and entitlement to vote of the elector whose mail ballot is enclosed; 
 

(b) the completeness of the certification; and 
 

(c) the fulfillment of the requirements of Section 65 of the Local Government Act in 
the case of a person who is registering as a new elector; 

 
the Chief Election Officer or designate must mark the certification envelope as “accepted” 
and must retain all such certification envelopes in custody to deal with any challenges 
made in accordance with Section 11 of this bylaw. 

 
(2) The unopened certification envelopes must remain in the secure custody of the chief 

election officer or designate until 4:00 p.m. on the Thursday two days before general 
voting day, at which time the certification envelopes containing the secrecy envelopes 
must be opened in the presence of at least one other person, including any scrutineers 
present. 
 

(3) At 4:00 pm on the Thursday two days before general voting day, where secrecy sleeves 
were received from persons whose right to vote using a mail ballot had not been 
challenged, or where such challenge has been resolved and the challenged person 
permitted to vote, the chief election officer or designate must place all secrecy envelopes 
received up until that time into the ballot box specified for such a purpose. 

 
 

(4) Where an outer envelope and its contents are received by the chief election officer or 
designate between 4:00 p.m. on the Thursday two days before general voting day and 
the close of voting on general voting day, the provisions of Section 10(1)  of this bylaw 
with regard to ballot acceptance apply and the chief election officer or designated must 
retain such envelope in custody until the close of voting and at that time must open such 
certification envelopes in the presence of at least one other person, including any 
scrutineers present, and place the secrecy envelope containing the ballot into the ballot 
box containing the other unopened secrecy envelopes. 

 
(5) As soon as possible after all of the secrecy envelopes have been placed in the ballot box 

designated for that purpose, the ballot box shall be opened under the supervision of the 
chief election officer or designate, and in the presence of at least one other person and 
any scrutineers present, the secrecy envelopes shall be opened and the ballots 
contained therein counted in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government 
Act. Page 37 of 70



 

Bylaw 708 2022 – Election Procedures Bylaw   Page 4 of 5 
 

(6) Where: 
 

(a) upon receipt of an outer envelope, the Chief Election Officer is not satisfied as to the 
identify of the elector whose mail ballot is enclosed; or 
 

(b) in the case of a person required to complete an application for registration as an 
elector, such application has not been completed in accordance with section 70 of 
the Local Government Act; or 
 

(c) the outer envelope is received by the chief election officer or designate after the 
close of voting on general voting day; 
 
the certification envelope must remain unopened, and the chief election officer must 
mark such envelope as “rejected”, and must note their reasons for doing so, and the 
mail ballot contained in such envelope, will not be counted in the election. 
 

(7) Any certification envelopes and their contents rejected in accordance with Section 10(6) 
of this bylaw must remain unopened and are subject to the provisions of section 160 of 
the Local Government Act with regard to their destruction. 

   
 

11. CHALLENGE OF MAIL BALLOT ELECTOR 
 
(1) A person exercising the right to vote by mail may be challenged in accordance with, and on 

the grounds specified in Section 126 of the Local Government Act until 4:00 p.m. on the 
Thursday two days before general voting day. 
 

(2) The provisions in Section 126 of the Local Government Act apply, so far as applicable, where 
a challenge of an elector voting by mail ballot has been made. 

 
 

12. MAIL BALLOT ELECTOR’S NAME ALREADY USED 
 
(1) Where, upon receiving a request for a mail ballot, the Chief Election Officer determines that 

another person has voted or has already been issued a mail ballot in that elector’s name, the 
provisions of Section 127 of the Local Government Act apply, so far as applicable. 

 
 

13. REPLACEMENT OF SPOILED BALLOT 
 
(1) Where an elector unintentionally spoils a mail ballot before returning it to the chief election 

officer, the elector may request a replacement ballot by advising the Chief Election Officer or 
designate of the ballot spoilage and by mailing or otherwise delivering by any appropriate 
means, the spoiled ballot package in its entirety to the Chief Election Officer or designate. 
 

(2) The Chief Election Officer must, upon receipt of the spoiled mail ballot package, record such 
fact, and must proceed to issue a replacement mail ballot package in accordance with section 
8(2) of this bylaw. 

  

Page 38 of 70



 

Bylaw 708 2022 – Election Procedures Bylaw   Page 5 of 5 
 

 
14. RESOLUTION OF TIE VOTE AFTER JUDICIAL RECOUNT 

 
In the event of a tie vote after a judicial recount, the tie vote will be resolved by conducting a lot 
in accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act. 

 
 

15. SEVERABILITY 
 
If any part, section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or word in his bylaw is held invalid by a 
Court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid portion will be severed, and the remainder of the bylaw 
will be deemed to be adopted without the severed part. 
 
 

16. REPEAL 
 

(1) “Local Elections Bylaw No. 499, 1999” is hereby repealed. 

 

GIVEN FIRST READING on this 12th day of January 2022. 

SECOND AND THIRD READINGS this 12th day of January 2022. 
 
ADOPTED this ___ day of January 2022 

 
 
 
             
Jan Polderman  Leslie Groulx 
Mayor  CAO/Corporate Officer 

 
 

Page 39 of 70



 

Page 40 of 70



 

 

Page 41 of 70



 

 
 
 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
DATE: January 26, 2022 
TO: Mayor & Council 
FROM: Terry Hawes, CFO 
SUBJECT: FIRE TRUCK ACQUISITION - FINANCING 
  

 

Request for: ☐ Direction  ☐ Decision  ☒ Information 
 

 
Recommendation:   
 

THAT Council receive the report on Fire Truck Acqustion – Financing dated January 26, 
2022.  

 
Background: 
 
Staff reported to Council on January 5, 2022, relative to the options identified to finance the new fire 
truck. Staff have been advised that the Fire Chief and his assistant will be travelling to Abbotsord 
shortly to make a final inspection of the truck. The supplier advises that the truck is completed and 
ready for delivery to the Village.  
 
Council directed Staff to contact Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) to determine its ability to finance 
the cost of the fire truck.  
 
Discussion: 
 
Staff has contacted the MFA, and they advise that, at first instance, the Village is within their standard 
leverage parameters. However, the 2020 Local Government Data Entry (LDGE) report is not yet 
finalized and reviewed by the Ministry. The Ministry is aware of the financial challenges of the Village 
and has provided that until the 2020 LDGE report is filed and reviewed by the Ministry in addition to the 
Village providing a current (interim) financial statement, they would not approve this financing request.  
 
 
Short Term Recovery Plan (if applicable): 
 
N/A 
 
Financial Impact: 
 
Staff had brought this financing recommendation forward to assist with cash flow concerns. These 
concerns will remain, and Staff will work to identify other mechanisms to manage the cash flow 
pressures.  

Page 42 of 70



 

 
Communication to the Public: 
 
N/A 
 
Options: 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Terry Hawes, MBA, CPA, CGA, CFE, C.Dir. 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
CAO Comments:   
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
N/A 
 

Page 43 of 70



 

 

 

 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 

DATE: January 26, 2022 
TO: Mayor & Council 

FROM: Terry Hawes, CFO 
SUBJECT: DMAF Grant Application $200M 
  

 

Request for: ☒ Direction  ☐ Decision  ☐ Information 
 

 

Recommendation:   
 

THAT Council receive the report dated January 26, 2022 with regards to DMAF Grant 
Application $200m and provide direction to Staff as to next steps.  

 
Background: 
 
Staff have engaged a Grant Writer (Consultant) to provide services as to identifying relevant available 
grants, writing grant applications, advising on all matters relative to grants. This service includes all 
sources of grants, including but not limited to UBCM, Non-Government Organizations (NGO’s), federal 
and provincial grants.  
 
Staff has provided a copy of the Disaster Mitigation and Adaptation Fund (DMAF) Grant Application to 
the Consultant. It is Staff’s understanding that this Grant application was submitted under the direction 
of Councilor Graie as per Council resolution 21-088 (October 13, 2021). The consultant has provided 
high-level comments subsequent to their review and this email is attached for your reference.  
 
Discussion: 
 
There are a number of key take-aways, notablyi: 
 

• “the Village of Lytton would not be able to apply for funding directed to the building of net-
zero/fire resistant community buildings and the rebuilding of un-insured homeowners as it does 
not have a direct impact in protecting the community against natural hazards and extreme 
weather events” 

• “the Village of Lytton has the potential to apply to the DMAF to request funding for $125 Million 
of eligible costs” 

• “most likely that the Village of Lytton could receive up to 40% of eligible project costs ($50 
Million)” 

• “There is an exceptional circumstance where the Village could receive up to 100% of funding 
from the DMAF. To have the potential to receive up to 100%, the Village must partner with the 
Lytton First Nations in the completion of this project and this project must primarily support 
infrastructure within the First Nations community.” 

Page 44 of 70



 

 
In the absence of a partnership with Lytton First Nation, the maximum funding is $75M of the total 
$125M in project costs. The Village will need to secure funding ($50m) from the Province or another 
source to contemplate this Grant. 
 
The parameters of this Grant do not meet the current articulated objectives of Mayor and Council as to 
a net zero/fire resistant community.  
 
Short Term Recovery Plan (if applicable): 
 
N/A 

 

Financial Impact: 
 
The Village woudld need to obtain a funding source of $125- $50 = $75 Million in the absence of full 
funding and partnership with the Lytton First Nations.  
 
Communication to the Public: 
 
N/A 

 
Options: 
 

N/A 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Terry Hawes, MBA, CPA, CGA, CFE, C.Dir. 

Chief Financial Officer 
 

 
 
CAO Comments:   
 
 
 
 
Attachments:  2022-01-07 Email Grant Match DMAF application review 
 
 
 

 
i Eamil – Grant Match Village of Lytton - DMAF - Application Review 

Page 45 of 70



From: Andrew Cleary
To: CFO VOL
Subject: Village of Lytton - DMAF - Application Review
Date: January 7, 2022 2:50:53 PM
Attachments: governmentfundingstrategistsfinal[recovered]-01(1)_5ba971a9-501d-44e4-934b-f22edbe28b82.png

greatplacetoworkcertificationbadgefebruary2021copy2_88cdf1fd-c601-4b02-a083-c22fba342e00.png

Hi Terry,
 
I hope your afternoon is going well so far.
 
I am emailing to provide my review of the Village of Lytton’s overall DMAF application. Based on my
review of the application, the program guidelines, and details regarding the projects approved in BC
under the first intake period of this program, there is an opportunity for the Village to receive
funding for a portion of the proposed project.
 
As per the program guidelines, projects must be aimed at reducing the socio-economic,
environmental and cultural impacts triggered by natural hazards and extreme weather events such
as floods and wildland fires. Eligible infrastructure project must involve the construction of public
infrastructure and/or modification/reinforcement of existing public infrastructure to protect the
community and its businesses against these impacts. As per the guidelines, ineligible projects include
infrastructure related to emergency and response services within the community.
 
Based on these guidelines, and activities of projects approved under this program’s first intake
period, the Village of Lytton would not be able to apply for funding directed to the building of net-
zero/fire resistant community buildings and the rebuilding of un-insured homeowners as it does not
have a direct impact in protecting the community against natural hazards and extreme weather
events. However, the following sub-projects within the original application has the potential to be
eligible for funding under the current DMAF guidelines:
 

1. District Energy System – The Vertical Closed-Loop Geothermal Plant for energy/heat would
provide a fire-resistant building, with buried cables, that would protect the community’s
overall energy and electrical systems from wildland fires and floods. These would reduce the
socio-economic, environmental, and cultural impacts against your community’s residents and
businesses in the event of a natural disaster. Estimated cost is $60 Million.

2. Community Wastewater System – The creation of a system that maintains operation and
function throughout a potential flood or wildfire whilst integrating preventative measures to
protect the community’s water supply in the event of a natural disaster has the potential to be
considered eligible under this program as it will reduce environmental impacts on the
community. Estimated cost is $35 Million.

3. Drinking Water System – The repair and replacement of the Village’s watershed and drinking
water piping will integrate a new drinking water system within the community that will
increase access to potable water and maintain this access in the event of a natural disaster. As
a result, this activity could be considered eligible under the program’s current guidelines.
Estimated cost is $30 Million.

 
As a result, the Village of Lytton has the potential to apply to the DMAF to request funding for $125

Page 46 of 70

mailto:acleary@grantmatch.com
mailto:cfo@lytton.ca

r’ GrantMatch




Great

Place
| [

Work.
Certified

FEB 2021 - JAN 2022
CANADA






Million of eligible costs. As per the program’s maximum federal contribution, it is most likely that the
Village of Lytton could receive up to 40% of eligible project costs ($50 Million) if approved by the
DMAF. There is an exceptional circumstance where the Village could receive up to 100% of funding
from the DMAF. To have the potential to receive up to 100%, the Village must partner with the
Lytton First Nations in the completion of this project and this project must primarily support
infrastructure within the First Nations community.
 
The deadline for the second intake period under this program is July 20, 2022. Please let me know if
you would like to further discuss my review of this project or if you have any questions regarding my
review.
 
Best regards,
 
 
 

ANDREW CLEARY | FUNDING SPECIALIST

GrantMatch Corp. 
A: 2265 Upper Middle Rd East, Suite 101, Oakville, ON. L6H 0G5
T: 905- 822-4474 ext 113 | M: 519-872-7386 
E: acleary@grantmatch.com | W: www.grantmatch.com  

 
                       

This message is intended for the addressees only. It may contain confidential or privileged information. No rights to privilege have been waived. Any copying, re-transmittal, taking of
action in reliance on, or other use of the information in this communication by persons other than the addressees is prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please reply
to the sender by e-mail and delete or destroy all copies of this message.

Page 47 of 70

http://ca.grantmatch.com/


 

 
August 20, 2021 
 
Mayor Jan Polderman and Council 
P.O. Box 100 
380 Main Street 
Lytton, BC V0K 1Z0 
 
Via Email: jpolderman@lytton.ca 
 
Dear Mayor Polderman and Council: 
 
The damage caused by the devastating wildfire in the Village of Lytton on June 30 is a heartbreaking reminder 
of the increasing risk facing communities across British Columbia from our changing climate. Addressing this, 
and the new weather reality we face, will require a whole-of-society approach involving all levels of 
government, the private sector, and individuals.   
 
Insurance Bureau of Canada (IBC) is the national industry association representing Canada’s home, business, 
and private auto insurers, and is supporting a coordinated industry response to help those impacted by the 
wildfire. Insurers are committed to helping residents and businesses in the Village of Lytton recover and 
rebuild. We are in close contact with officials from your community and the Emergency Operations Centre, 
and are working to ensure that residents and businesses that have been impacted are aware of the insurance 
supports available to them.   
 
On July 12, Lytton Council endorsed a resolution to rebuild the community based on best practices for zero 
emissions and community living status, with the expectation that any additional costs for these new 
standards would be addressed via multiple initiatives.  Building By-law 750, 2021, introduced on August 11, 
sets out the requirements for reconstruction in the community, and that this be done in compliance with 
Step Five of the British Columbia Energy Step Code.  
 
IBC applauds the leadership you are showing, as you strive to rebuild a more resilient community, and we 
would welcome the opportunity to discuss how Canada’s insurers can support this process. As Lytton’s new 
building standards, and this new by-law in particular, are considered, it is important to be aware of how 
insurance policies will respond and interact with the potential new measures.  
 
A typical home or business insurance policy will provide for the cost to replace a property – either up to a 
specific dollar limit (Actual Cash Value) or via a Guaranteed Replacement Cost policy. The difference depends 
on the coverage chosen at time of original purchase of the policy. Some policies may also include by-law 
coverage that will pay for any additional cost for building by-laws, regulations, ordinances or laws, in force at 
the time of loss or damage. As such, it is unlikely that any insurance policy will provide coverage for by-laws 
passed since the Lytton wildfire on June 30.      

 
In light of this, Council’s original intent that any additional costs for these new standards be addressed via 
multiple initiatives will be paramount to fostering a speedy and effective recovery, and in ensuring that home 
and business owners do not incur significant out-of-pocket costs to comply with the proposed new building 
requirements.

Page 48 of 70



-2- 

I would welcome the opportunity to discuss this matter with you further and answer any questions that you 
may have on the insurance implications of Council’s proposed By-Law 750, or any other insurance concerns 
you may have.  I can be reached at asutherland@ibc.ca or 604-349-8046. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Aaron Sutherland 
Vice-President, Western & Pacific 

 

Page 49 of 70



October 15, 2021 

Jan Polderman 
Mayor of Lytton 
PO Box 100, 380 Main Street 
Lytton, BC V0K 1Z0 

Via Email: jpolderman@lytton.ca 

Re: Village of Lytton Permitting Process for Debris Removal 

Dear Mayor Polderman: 

Helping the Village of Lytton build back from the heartbreaking devastation caused by the June 
30th wildfire is priority for my organization, the Insurance Bureau of Canada (IBC), and our 
member insurers. We continue to collaborate with Village officials and, together, are working 
expeditiously to help residents and businesses recover and begin to rebuild. 

It has been over three months since Lytton residents were forced to flee the community. While 
an evacuation order remains in place, insurers have been permitted by Village officials to work 
with residents and begin an assessment of properties impacted. With this work nearing 
completion, the immediate next step in the recovery process will be to remove debris from 
severely fire-damaged properties.  

Insurers want to move forward and assist your residents with this next step in the recovery 
process, but are unable to start debris removal without clear direction and approval from Village 
officials on the procedure. Put simply, insurers cannot begin debris removal until a permit is 
obtained to start this work.  

While we have had ongoing discussions since July with Village officials regarding this, we now 
understand that a permit process may not be established until November, if not later. As such, 
we wanted to make you aware of our concerns by the length of time it is taking to begin this 
work.  

With winter months fast approaching, the cold weather can create unforeseen delays and 
additional safety concerns for contractors and residents. For example, pouring concrete for the 
replacement of the foundations of homes and businesses is a significant challenge in winter 
conditions.  Following other major wildfires, insurers have worked collaboratively with 
governments to develop a process to commence debris removal as soon as feasible, to help 
residents move forward with their lives and recovery.  Since this process has not yet been 
created by Village officials and there is no clear timeline of when this process will be finalized, 
residents are, understandably, increasingly frustrated.  

Page 50 of 70



 

 
A standard home insurance policy also has limits on coverages for additional living expenses that 
are different for each homeowner. With continued delays, there is an increasing risk that  
residents will exhaust these coverages before the full rebuild of their home is complete. This will 
create a serious financial concern for many residents who are experiencing delays though no 
fault of their own.   
 
Any assistance and direction by the Village of Lytton to expedite and fully implement a 
permitting process for debris removal would be welcome news to insurers who are working with 
impacted residents and businesses to help rebuild this community. It is our hope that by moving 
quickly, we can ensure as many residents and businesses return to the community as possible, 
and that Lytton can thrive once again. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Aaron Sutherland 
Vice President, Western & Pacific 
 
 
CC:  Hon. Mike Farnworth – BC Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General 

Tara Richards – Deputy Minister, Emergency Management BC, Government of BC 
Councillor Ian Hay –Village of Lytton 
Councillor Lilliane Graie – Village of Lytton 
Councillor Robert Leitch – Village of Lytton 
Symone Curry – Chief Administrative Officer, Village of Lytton 
Anne Yanciw – Community Recovery Officer, Village of Lytton 
Tim MacLeod – Re-Entry Coordinator, Village of Lytton 

Page 51 of 70



To the Mayor and Council Village of Lytton, 

I received this email ( item #1attached) Thursday December 16th from a member of the Citizen's 
Advisory Committee. It speaks to wanting to hear wishes / concerns and to the rebuild and  recovery of 
OUR COMMUNITY. I reached out to Councilor /Chair Hayes  at the (personal) email provided to see if 
this included those if us outside  "Village Boundries" prior to submitting our information. He replied ( 
item #2 attached) indicating it was meant for Village of Lytton Residents only. 

I would respectfully point out that I see this as extremely non- inclusive and short sighted on both the 
Village and Advisory Committee's part. The Village of Lytton is comprised of approximately 250 people. 
The COMMUNITY OF LYTTON, (which to me comprises the surrounding area) is made up of the local 
First Nations, Village and rural residents and numbers  approximately 1500-2000 people. Without the 
local First Nations and rural residents who use the Village as a central hub, the " Village of Lytton" would 
cease to be a community. 

One could also point out that Village’s Citizen's Advisory Committee is made up of more than 30% " non-
Village Residents"- a prime example of how the Village is indeed dependent on the surrounding 
Community. 

I am formally requesting as a COMMUNITY MEMBER  that the Village of Lytton and the Citizen's Advisory 
Committee open their eyes and re- evaluate their definition of Community to include First Nations and 
rural residents of the Lytton Area. 

Regards, 
Tricia Thorpe 

Page 52 of 70



Hi There, 
 
A short note to let you know that the Citizen’s Advisory Committee has been stood up, to reach out to 
the residents to hear your wishes\concerns and try to answer any questions you may have with 
regards to the recovery and re-built of our community. A great part of our mandate is we can request 
guest speakers, regarding any specialty topic deemed important to our residents.  
 
In order to fully fulfil our commitment, we need to be able to personally contact you in order to secure 
all areas of concern. To complete this, we would like you to complete the following form to assist us in 
helping you: 
  

1.Last Name; 
2.First Name; 
3.Number in Family; 
4.Email Address; 
5.Cell Phone Number; and 
6. Best Time of Day to Contact You. 

 
You may receive this request more than once and if so, please forgive us and only reply once, as it is 
being sent out to friends from all ten members of the Citizen’s Advisory Committee. 
  
Please send your completed form to   Chair Ian Hay at   bluecollarhuntz@outlook.com 
  
2): Dallas Hay <bluecollarhuntz@outlook.com> 
Date: Thu., Dec. 16, 2021, 11:32 a.m. 
Subject: RE: Re Rebuild Lytton 
To: Tricia Thorpe <triciat023@gmail.com> 
Cc: ollieh33@gmail.com <ollieh33@gmail.com> 
  

Hi Trish, 

 Great hearing from you and glad you and Don are well. 

The Citizen’s Advisory Committee was struck to contact residents of the Village of Lytton, to sort of be the 
resident’s voice to the Council, so if you know anyone who qualifies as a resident of the Village, would you please 
pass the information needed on to them. 

Please pass on my regards to Don. A couple of days before the fire I drove him home from the High School and it 
was nice to “catch up” on things. 

Take care and stay safe my Friend and if you need any information as to what is going on in the Village, please do 
not hesitate in contacting me. 

Ian 

 

Page 53 of 70

mailto:bluecollarhuntz@outlook.com
mailto:bluecollarhuntz@outlook.com
mailto:triciat023@gmail.com
mailto:ollieh33@gmail.com
mailto:ollieh33@gmail.com


From: Lytton Communication
To: Ross Urquhart
Cc: CAO Lytton; Nikki Best
Subject: Re: Letter to Mayor and Council
Date: January 12, 2022 9:00:13 PM

On Wed, Jan 12, 2022 at 5:35 PM Ross Urquhart < wrote:

From:  Ross Urquhart, 87 Main Street, Lytton
To:  Mayor and Council 

I am requesting action on the questions.  I have asked them a number of times since the
firestorm that destroyed our community.  I am enclosing a timeline showing this along with
a copy of the questions.  Please respond.

Questions:  Ross Urquhart, 87 Main Street, Lytton

On Aug 12, 2021, I wrote to Councilor Ian Hay with questions about the District Energy
System. This proposal had appeared in the new bylaw 750 that had just received first
reading by the Mayor and Council.  Ian was a friend and he was known to be consistently
answering his emails, unlike others, who answered only sporadically.

On Aug 13, Ian responded to my email by saying he would get the answers.  He then sent
me a copy of an email he was sending to Symone, Lytton’s CAO, asking her to provide these
answers so he can route them to me.  He even told her to “please treat this as urgent”.  

I was so impressed I responded on the same day by sending more questions.

Aug 14, received an email from Ian saying my questions were sent to “Kamloops” (where
the temporary admin for Lytton was being established), because more expertise was
needed to find the answers.

On Aug 16, I sent in a cleaned up and re-organized list of the questions to make them more
easily addressed.  It was possible they were having trouble understanding them. 

Page 54 of 70

mailto:communication@lytton.ca
mailto:ofbandg@gmail.com
mailto:cao@lytton.ca
mailto:nikki@snowberryconsulting.com


Ian responded by sending me a copy of his referral of these questions to Symone asking her
to also send the answers to the mayor and council.

On Aug 20, Ian emailed me stating that staff required more time to answer my questions.  At
which time he told me he had informed the mayor he would vote against the bylaw if my
questions weren’t answered.

On Aug 22, I had still received no answers to my questions so I sent an email to Ian with
more questions.

On Sept 3, still no answers to my questions so I sent even more questions.

On Sept 5, I received an email from Ian saying he read my new questions and will be
responding later.

Sept 7, Ian and I exchanged emails about our opinions on the overall situation.  We didn’t
agree on what was happening.  It was not a friendly exchange.

On Sept 9, I sent Ian a published article on Net Zero homes – which weren’t hooked up to a
District Energy System.

On Nov 6, almost two month later, I sent an email to the mayor and council re-submitting all
of the questions that I had been told would be answered, but never were.  I also added a
question about the coming municipal election.  I asked if the mayor and councilors were
intending to run in that election.  

This re-submitting of questions was in response to the Village of Lytton asking residents for
questions to be answered at a special Village of Lytton community meeting.  On Nov 8,
when the community meeting was held some questions were answered, mine weren’t.

On Dec 9, another Village of Lytton community meeting was held.  Again, with the stated
purpose of answering resident’s concerns.  Again, my questions were not addressed.

Recently a statement was issued saying that questions from both of those meetings had
been dealt with.

For those of you who may think my questions weren’t worth answering, or were too
demanding, I have sent them along again.  Decide for yourselves.

Questions Sent to the Village of Lytton Concerning the New

Page 55 of 70



Community Plan

1. The recent tragedy of Lytton is that it burned to the ground in a horrendous
firestorm, but the emphasis in this bylaw appears to be on creating a complete
net zero community, which would do little to prevent the village from burning
down again.  Why is this?

2. Are the homes and businesses that weren't burned down going to be retro-fit
to a net zero standard?  This includes both the homes and businesses
downtown and the ones up above the highway, where councilor Ian Hay and
mayor Jan Polderman live, or is council exempting them?

3. Once these homes are retro-fit, (I am assuming that you wouldn't be
exempting them), are they going to be hooked up to the same District Energy
Plants you are building downtown to supply heat, ventilation, and air
conditioning, or are you going to be building a separate plant uptown?

4. Will any “new” homes or businesses built in the upper sections of the village,
such as in the Ponderosa and Loring Way subdivisions, or along the Trans
Canada Highway, be required to achieve net zero?

5. Will “new” homes or businesses in the upper village be hooked up to the
District Energy Plant, or will they be required to meet a net zero standard
independently?

6. Are homes and businesses in the village core able to opt out of the District
Energy Plant and choose to achieve net zero by another means?  Would they
be penalized by then losing the government subsidy attached to their
insurance payout required to create a net zero home?

7. The Energy Plant supplying all of our heating, ventilation, and cooling will
have to run large pipes, I assume underground, to every property in town
before we can start rebuilding.  Given that this is a huge task as they have to
be routed not to interfere with existing buried services, and there needs to be
thousands of feet of pipe installed, how long before this will be completed?

8. What size pipes will be coming into every home and business?  The pipe
trenches will tear up every street, cut across sidewalks to access buildings,
remove fences, dig up people’s lawns, and require cutting into existing
foundations on private property.  Who is going to replace all the streets,
sidewalks, fences and damages to private property?  Will these pipes be

Page 56 of 70



going over or under the existing water and sewer lines?  What will be the
cost? How will this impact future maintenance of water and sewer systems?

9. What are the “Mini-plants” being discussed in the building code?  Where are
they to be installed and what is their role?

10. Under your new bylaw, the cost of rebuilding our homes and businesses are
substantially over the replacement value the insurance companies are
contracted to pay.  The estimate I received from a builder is approximately
$100,000 extra.  Does the village have written guarantees that these costs will
be borne by someone other than the home or business owner?

11. With these new bylaws in place mandating net zero, Lytton will become one of
the most expensive small communities in the country to move into.  What will
the village be offering to attract new businesses and new residents to
Lytton?  In the recent past, one major attraction for new residents was the
relatively inexpensive homes and businesses.  That will no longer be the
case.  How are we even going to replace the residents we normally lose
through attrition?  If we can’t, how will our businesses survive and how will we
justify holding on to the services we enjoy such as the Doctors, Medical
Center, Ambulance, Transition House, Pharmacy, Post Office and various
Social Agencies?

12. I see there is a fine of $10,000 and/or up to three months in jail for altering,
disconnecting, or abusing the District Energy System, even on your own
property.  What are some examples of this activity?

13. Will the Energy Plant and all the supply pipes have to be in place and tested
before we can begin rebuilding our homes?

14. On page 94 of the Bylaw package, presented at your Aug.11 meeting, there
was supposed to be a map of where the District Energy Plant is located but it
wasn't included.  Is it available?

15. Are there detailed drawings of the District Energy Plant itself, including the
systems involved?  Can we see them?

16. Are these Energy Plants going to be supplying IR17 and IR18 as well?
Has LFN signed onto this?

17. According to the information provided, once this plant is in operation and

Page 57 of 70



hooked up to every building in the village, it will be responsible for heating,
cooling, and ventilation, to every building in Lytton, twenty-four hours a day,
seven days a week.  Heating in Winter and cooling in Summer are vital to both
homes and businesses but, in addition, net zero homes are built to an air-tight
standard, and this plant is also our source of fresh air.  This puts a
tremendous responsibility on the Village to ensure at no time does the system
shut down.  We are susceptible to power outages, snow storms, wind storms,
mud slides, and all manner of other natural events living in this canyon - not to
mention the possibility of human caused problems - how will you be able to
keep this running under all conditions?

 
18. With every home and business in Lytton being completely dependent - by law

- on the District Energy Plant for heating, cooling, and ventilation - literally
forever - that creates a legal liability which the village will be responsible to
meet under all circumstances.  Has the village discussed this with its lawyers
to see what costs and challenges this will impose, or will resident homeowners
and businesses be required to sign a waiver stating they will not hold the
village liable for damage or other problems caused by this dependency?

 
19. I can't find anyplace a system like this has been installed in an entire existing

community - especially one as old and established as ours.  Do you have any
information on this?  Is this an experiment with us being the guinea pigs?

 
20. Where I have found systems of this nature, are in large factories or multi-

family dwellings such as apartment blocks and subdivisions where everything
was pre-designed and installed before the homes were built and sold.  The
systems are complex and require round the clock monitoring by trained staff. 
In many cases one or more qualified staff members must be on hand at all
times to keep the systems running, as any shut down could put lives at risk. 
In the case of Lytton, this appears to mean a trained stationary engineer or
similarly qualified person would have to be in attendance 24 hours a day 7
days a week.  That is three, eight hour shifts a day, every day of the year. 
Given that Lytton is a CUPE member, and statutory holidays, vacation days,
sick days, and training and administration days, are involved, plus a factor for
administration and bookeeping must be added for the extra required crew.  My
estimate is for at least six full time journeymen employees to be put on our
village staff to monitor, service and maintain this system.  Am I wrong?  If not,
and accepting that this plant, once in operation, will need to stay in operation -
forever - to feed all the existing buildings, what is this extra staffing going to do
to our tax bill.

 

Page 58 of 70



21. Keeping the plant running will also require other tradespersons.  Engineers,
pipefitters, experts in hydraulics and electronics to maintain and repair the
multiple pumps, motors, sensors, fans, and to measure the quality of the fluids
in the exchangers, as well as the quality of the air being supplied to the homes
and businesses.  These are complex systems and they will be running
constantly.  Obviously, they will experience malfunctions.  As we have none of
these tradespeople living in Lytton what kind of budget will be required for all
of their costs and expenses on an annual basis.  Before the fire an attempt
was made to install and run a similar but much smaller system in the Lytton
Medical Center.  It experienced constant problems and required a steady
stream of experts and tradespeople to travel from Kamloops and the Lower
Mainland, as well as many parts being ordered from far flung locations, but it
never did achieve dependability.  The medical center was a large building
which included Spintlem Lodge, but it wasn’t a whole village.

22. Extra costs associated with re-building to a fire resistant standard are also
substantial.  Are they required?  Who will be responsible for paying those
costs?

23. My insurance company has informed me that our contract is only for two years
– and this is normal for all insurance companies so, I believe, all of us who are
burned out are under the same restrictions.  What this means is, they are
committed to providing us with all the resources we are entitled to for a two
year period.  This includes a fixed amount of expense money for living out,
and if they keep their commitment, the contract ends two years from the date
of the fire.  In other words, if we are not moved into a new home within two
years from the date our old house burned, they no longer have any financial
responsibility to us.  This applies even if we have no control over the building
process, such as the municipality’s refusal to issue a building permit, or radical
changes to the building code that take place after the fire, but before
rebuilding can take place.  Should it take longer for me to move back into my
home, will the municipality of Lytton be taking responsibility for all costs
associated with the delays, or any legal troubles that arise from
disagreements with the insurance companies?

24. Through social media we are already hearing of Lytton residents who are
seeking a new life in other communities.  We have no solid number of those
who will be looking for a cash settlement from their insurance company,
instead of rebuilding, but the longer the process takes the larger that number
could be.  What is to be done with properties that are not planned for
rebuilding?  Some of those who had no insurance are also facing this

Page 59 of 70



predicament although we hope they can receive some form of help to, at least,
put a comfortable roof over their heads.  If these empty lots are going up for
sale, will the new buyers be entitled to the $100,000 subsidized conversion to
net zero?

25. Will Lytton be hiring a Bylaw Enforcement Officer?  We haven’t had one in the
past and with all these new, highly restrictive, bylaws who will be responsible
for enforcing them – and what will that cost the village?

Page 60 of 70



-------- Original message -------- 
From: southern interior local government <yoursilga@gmail.com> 
Date: 2022-01-20 09:31 (GMT-08:00) 
To: jpolderman@lytton.ca, Kevin Skrepnek <kskrepnek@tnrd.ca> 
Subject: SILGA advocacy for 2021 fire/flood communities 

Good morning Jan and Kevin, 

During the SILGA board meeting on January 19th, the communities of Merritt and Princeton 
asked for SILGA's assistance in advocating for help with restoration/recovery efforts for fire and 
flood ravaged communities.  The representatives indicated that there have been numerous 
roadblocks to getting funds into their communities from both provincial and federal governments 
as well as charity organizations such as the Red Cross.   

SILGA is planning a campaign to raise awareness at the Provincial and Federal levels by using 
area MP's and MLA's as well as media to illustrate the gaps.  We have asked Merritt and 
Princeton to submit their 5 main roadblocks/lack of support issues they are dealing with, along 
with any solutions they could suggest. Can I ask the same from you?  

And of course, anything else that you feel is important.  Point form - I know how busy you are. 

The SILGA board will be meeting again in early February to formulate plans for this 
campaign.  Can you please get your issues/suggestions to me by January 31st? I appreciate any 
help you can provide.  

Thanks, Alison  
-- 
Alison Slater, BComm, CFP, ARCT 
General Manager  
PO Box 27017 Cityview PO 
Kamloops, BC V2E 0B2 
250-851-6653
www.silga.ca

Page 61 of 70

mailto:yoursilga@gmail.com
mailto:jpolderman@lytton.ca
mailto:kskrepnek@tnrd.ca
http://www.silga.ca/


From: BC PR & Communications Adviser <bc-prcomm@girlguides.ca> 
Sent: January 6, 2022 9:16 PM 
To: Lytton Hotspot <hotspot@lytton.ca> 
Subject: Guiding Lights Across BC - Feb 22 2022 

Hi Mayor and Council, 

On behalf of Girl Guides of Canada’s British Columbia Council, I am writing to ask for 
your support for girl empowerment in BC this February 22, by lighting up your 
building(s) with exterior lighting or interior window lights in the colour blue. Blue 
is the well-known colour of Girl Guides and girls/women in BC have worn their blue Girl 
Guide uniforms with pride for many generations. Last year we had 85+ landmarks 
across the Province light up blue! 

Every year on February 22, Girl Guides celebrate World Thinking Day, a day of 
international friendship. It is an opportunity to speak out on issues that affect girls and 
young women, celebrate the founding of Girl Guides, and be connected to the 10 million 
members around the world who are part of the Guiding movement. 

Here in British Columbia, we have thousands of girls and women who are members of 
Girl Guides of Canada. We have Girl Guide programs in nearly every community in BC, 
and our girls/volunteers light up their communities year-round through leadership, 
community service, and efforts to create a better world, by girls. Girls typically 
participate in annual Thinking Day activities held on/around February 22. Due to the 
continuing effects of COVID-19, our usual large gatherings, campfire singalongs, 
community events, special camps, and other activities are impacted, and so this year 
will again look different than usual. 

For Thinking Day 2022, we will be celebrating in a way that is COVID-friendly, keeps 
our communities safe, and brings a smile to the faces of girls, families, volunteers, and 
the public: Guiding Lights Across British Columbia. This community initiative will 
light up outdoor landmarks, bridges, buildings, stadiums, and other illuminated 
locations, with blue lights, in celebration of the sisterhood of Guiding across BC and 
beyond, on February 22. A map of previous participating locations can be found 
at www.girlguides.ca/guidinglightsacrossbc 

We will be mobilizing our members to admire these lit-up sites in ways that comply with 
COVID-19 rules (both from public health authorities and Girl Guides' own member 
safety protocols) in effect at that time, posting photos on social media, emailing our 
members with info about how to participate, and more. We are excited for this open-air 
opportunity that will enable everyone to safely celebrate. 

Our Girl Guide members and broader network of supporters would be thrilled to have 
your landmarks lit up as part of Guiding Lights Across British Columbia, and to highlight 
your participation as part of this province-wide event. Please contact us at bc-
prcomm@girlguides.ca to confirm your ability to participate in this February 22, 2022, 
activity. 

Page 62 of 70

https://www.facebook.com/events/343704140898060
http://www.girlguides.ca/guidinglightsacrossbc
mailto:bc-prcomm@girlguides.ca
mailto:bc-prcomm@girlguides.ca


Thank you for your support for Guiding in BC! 

Isabella Lee (she/her) | BC Public Relations and Communications Adviser 
BC Council, Girl Guides of Canada 
bc-prcomm@girlguides.ca/ (cell) 778-677-6452 
I respectfully acknowledge that I live and work within the ancestral, traditional, 
and unceded territory of the Songhees, Esquimalt, and W̱SÁNEĆ Nations. 

Page 63 of 70

mailto:bc-prcomm@girlguides.ca/


From: Transportation, Minister TRAN:EX <Minister.Transportation@gov.bc.ca> 
Sent: January 5, 2022 3:55 PM 
Cc: Minister, MSI TRAN:EX <Minister.SI@gov.bc.ca>; Wood, Jeremy TRAN:EX 
<Jeremy.Wood@gov.bc.ca> 
Subject: 306334 – Municipal speed limits 

306334 – Municipal speed limits 

Dear Union of British Columbia Municipalities members: 

Municipalities throughout British Columbia are committed to creating safer streets for all road 
users, and the ministry shares in this commitment. Reducing speed limits is one available avenue 
to meet this goal and, under the Motor Vehicle Act (MVA), municipalities have the authority to 
set and change speed limits on municipal roads as they deem appropriate. The purpose of this 
letter is to provide clarity about the options available to municipalities for enacting changes to 
speed limits. 

Section 146 of the MVA establishes a “default” speed limit of 50 km/h on municipal roads 
unless a municipality provides otherwise by way of: 

• a bylaw directing the rate of speed at which a person may drive or operate a motor
vehicle on a highway in the municipality; and,

• signs that have been erected or placed limiting the rate of speed of motor vehicles driven
or operated on a designated portion of the highway.

The MVA does not specify the frequency or placement of speed limit signage—it is not 
necessarily the case that a municipality establishing either a 30 or 40 km/h speed limit on roads 
within specific geographic areas in the community will need to post speed signs on every block. 
Communities should take into consideration a range of factors when considering the placement 
of signage to support enforcement of speeding offences. Local factors such as the road network 
in the area under consideration, as well as advice from legal counsel and police are all important 
considerations in making adjustments to speed limits on local roads. 

There are a number of municipalities that have taken different approaches to lowering speed 
limits and we encourage communities to engage one another and share best practices. The City 
of Nelson is an example of a community with a long-standing blanket speed limit of 40 km/hr, 
which is enforced using perimeter signage at highway entry points into the community. For 
examples of local speed reduction pilots, the Cities of Vancouver and Surrey have each recently 
implemented projects using a combination of street markings, gateway and speed limit signs to 
inform drivers about new slow streets initiatives and the reduced speed limits of 30 or 40 km/hr 
as applicable on specific neighbourhood roads. 

Division 23, Schedule 1, of the Motor Vehicle Act Regulations sets out signage standards, and 
local governments may apply for funding of signs through the Active Transportation Grant. 

We look forward to learning of the approaches that communities take to lowering speeds and 
continuing to work together to expand networks of active transportation to meet the CleanBC 

Page 64 of 70



goal of doubling trips taken by walking, biking and other kinds of active networks by the year 
2030. Thank you for your commitment to road safety, and we hope the information above 
provides clarity around options available to municipalities for adopting changes to speed limits. 

If you have questions about the authority under the Motor Vehicle Act for local governments to 
reduce speed limits along their local roads, please do not hesitate to contact the Senior 
Legislative Director for the Transportation Policy and Legislation Branch, Jeremy Wood. Mr. 
Wood can be reached at 778 698-5191 or Jeremy.Wood@gov.bc.ca and would be happy to help. 

Sincerely, 

Rob Fleming 
Minister 

Copy to:       Honourable Bowinn Ma 
 Minister of State for Infrastructure 
 MLA, North Vancouver-Lonsdale 

 Jeremy Wood, Senior Legislative Director 
 Transportation Policy and Legislation Branch 

Page 65 of 70

mailto:Jeremy.Wood@gov.bc.ca


January 12, 2022 

Re: Engagement on updates to British Columbia’s Geographical Naming Principles, 

Policy and Procedures 

VIA EMAIL 

To whom it may concern, 

Geographical place names are essential for communication and navigation, but also influence 

how we view, understand and remember places and their stories. Embracing our diversity 

through place names gives all British Columbians an opportunity to develop a deeper 

understanding of the history and significance of the land and its features.  

The Government of British Columbia has committed to reconciliation with Indigenous 

Peoples in BC and to the adoption and implementation of the United Nations Declaration on 

the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) through the Declaration Act (2019). In support 

of these commitments, the BC Geographical Names Office, part of the Heritage Branch of the 

Ministry of Forest, Lands, Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development, wishes to 

engage with you and your community on proposed updates to British Columbia’s 

Geographical Naming Principles, Policy and Procedures, which outline how decisions about 

geographical place names are made. The last major revision to the policy took place in the 

1990s. 

The proposed changes include: 

1. Establish guiding principles for decisions and procedures for geographical naming in

BC.

2. Acknowledge the importance of documenting and restoring Indigenous place names

as an act of reconciliation.

3. Outline procedures for recording information in the BC Geographical Names

Information System (the database that contains authoritative information on place

names), including unofficial place names.

4. Provide for the recognition of multiple official place names for a geographical feature

in different languages.

5. Reconsider the practice of commemorative place naming, where geographical features

are named after individual persons to honour or memorialize them.

6. Allow the BCGNO to initiate the rescinding of a place name that is derogatory or

discriminatory.

7. General update to modernize policy and address gaps.

We would like to engage with you to understand how changes to British Columbia’s 

Geographical Naming Principles, Policy and Procedures might affect or support your 

community’s interests and values. To this end, we have contracted Corfield & Associates to 

Ministry of Forests, Lands, 
Natural Resource Operations 

and Rural Development 

Heritage Branch Mailing Address: 
PO Box 9818 STN PROV GOVT 

Victoria, BC  V8W 9W3 

Tel: 250 356-1432 
Website: www.gov.bc.ca/for 

Page 66 of 70



assist with the facilitation and engagement of Indigenous and municipal governments and key 

stakeholders.  

Heritage Branch and Corfield and Associates have identified the following dates for virtual 

engagement sessions with municipal government representatives: 

Tuesday, February 1 – Local Governments - 9:30 AM – 12:00 PM PT 

Wednesday, February 2 – Local Governments - 1:00 PM – 3:30 PM PT 

Tuesday, February 8 – Local Governments - 1:00 PM – 3:30 PM PT 

Wednesday, February 9 – Local Governments - 9:30 AM – 12:00 PM PT 

To facilitate your participation, we ask that you register in advance for one of the virtual 

engagement sessions by emailing corfieldandassociates@gmail.com. Once your participation 

is confirmed, you will receive an invitation to the virtual session. You will also be sent a 

discussion guide and draft policy to review, which will provide additional information and 

details about the proposed changes.    

If you are unable to participate in one of the virtual engagement sessions, Corfield and 

Associates have prepared an online survey to receive your input. Please email 

corfieldandassociates@gmail.com to receive a link to access the online survey.  

We thank you in advance for your input. 

Sincerely, 

Richard Linzey 

Director 

Page 67 of 70

mailto:corfieldandassociates@gmail.com
mailto:corfieldandassociates@gmail.com


Ministry of Municipal Affairs Local Government Infrastructure 
 and Finance Branch 

Mailing Address: 
PO Box 9838 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria, BC  V8W 9T1 

Phone: 250.387.4060 
Fax: 250.387.7972 

Location: 
4th Floor - 800 Johnson Street 
Victoria BC  V8W 1N3 

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/ 

Circular No. 22:02 

January 18, 2022 

To: All Chief Administrative Officers 

Re: Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program: 
Environmental Quality Program – Application Intake Extended 

The application deadline for the Environmental Quality Program, under the Investing in 
Canada Infrastructure Program (ICIP), will be extended until February 23, 2022 (from January 
26, 2022) in recognition of multiple recent pressures affecting local governments including 
from flooding and COVID-19 impacts. 

The Province of British Columbia and Government of Canada have partnered on the Investing in Canada 
Infrastructure Program (ICIP) to fund Green; Community, Culture and Recreation; Public Transit; and 
Rural and Northern Communities Infrastructure. The ICIP provides communities across British Columbia 
a variety of funding opportunities to build sustainable communities, to help create long term economic 
growth, and to support a low carbon, green economy. 

On Friday, October 8, 2021, the third intake of the Environmental Quality (EQ) Program was 
announced. The Province and Canada are committing up to $270 million to support cost-sharing of 
capital infrastructure projects in communities across the Province. This intake is designed for 
projects starting in 2023 and completing by 2026. 

The EQ Program provides support for reliable water and wastewater systems that meet legislated 
standards or projects that result in legislative standards being met. It will also support projects that 
remediate contaminated sites, divert solid waste from landfill, provide treatment or management for 
stormwater and reduce or remediate soil & air pollutants.  

Applications also demonstrating principles of sustainability through long-term community plans and 
asset management, as well as consideration for environmental enhancement, climate change, water 
conservation, resource recovery and reuse, and added value for a better planet will have the best 
chance of success given the oversubscription rates in past intakes.  

Grant applications are assessed in the context of published program eligibility guidelines and 
consideration is given to projects demonstrating alignment with program criteria. This reinforces the 
expectation that grant funds are allocated fairly and equitably between competing projects. 

Page 68 of 70

http://www.cscd.gov.bc.ca/lgd/


Program information, including Program Guide, application instructions and links to the application are 
now available on the ICIP website: www.gov.bc.ca/Investing-in-Canada-Infrastructure-Program. 

The Ministry is pleased to provide advice on what is looked for in a successful application for any of our 
grant programs. Please contact the Local Government Infrastructure and Finance Branch by telephone 
at:  250-387-4060, or by email at:  infra@gov.bc.ca.  

Sincerely, 

Brian Bedford 

Executive Director 
Local Government Infrastructure and Finance Branch 
Ministry of Municipal Affairs 

Page 69 of 70

http://www.gov.bc.ca/Investing-in-Canada-Infrastructure-Program
mailto:infra@gov.bc.ca


From: Jacqui Schneider <Jacqui.Schneider@teck.com> 
Sent: January 21, 2022 1:42 PM 
To: Jan Polderman <jpolderman@lytton.ca> 
Cc: Carly Bielecki <Carly.Bielecki@teck.com>; CAO Lytton <cao@lytton.ca> 
Subject: RE; Teck Highland Valley Copper Management Change 

Good Afternoon, Your Worship Mayor Polderman, Village of Lytton and Leslie Groulx, Acting Chief 
Administrative Officer 

Dear Mayor and Members of Council, 

On behalf of Acting Manager, Community and Indigenous Affairs, Carly Bielecki, please be advised that 
Matt Parrilla has been appointed General Manager, Highland Valley Copper (HVC), as of January 2022. 
Matt replaces Adam Foulstone. 

Matt joined Teck in 2000 as Steam Engineer in the Lead Smelter at Trail Operations. Since then, he has 
held progressively more senior roles in operations management and technology and innovation, 
including Manager, Production, at Trail Operations; Director, Strategy, RACE21™; Director, Integrated 
Operations; and, most recently, Director, Operations Transformation, HVC. Matt holds a Diploma in 
Power Engineering Technology from Southern Alberta Institute of Technology (SAIT). He is a certified 
2nd Class Power Engineer and a graduate of Teck’s Emerging Leaders Program. 

If any questions shall arise please feel free to reach out to Carly Bielecki or myself. 

Regards, 
Jacqui Schneider 

Page 70 of 70


	1 CALL TO ORDER
	2 ADOPTION OF AGENDA
	3 DELEGATIONS
	3.1 Mary Anne Coules, Stakeholder Engagement Advisor,Community Relation - Options for restoration of Hydro Services
	3.2 2022-01-05 ICLR Draft Submission re Lyttons Building Bylaw

	4 PUBLIC COMMENT
	5 ADOPTION OF MINUTES
	5.1 2022-01-12 - Regular Council Minutes DRAFT

	6 BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES/UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	6.2.a Election Procedures Bylaw No. 708, 2022
	6.2.b  Municipal Affairs Ministerial Order M4

	7 STAFF REPORTS
	7.2.a FIRE TRUCK ACQUISITION - FINANCING
	7.2.b RTC - DMAF Grant Application

	8 BYLAWS, POLICIES AND RESOLUTIONS
	9 CORRESPONDENCE
	9.1.a.1 2021-08-20 IBC Letter to Mayor Polderman
	9.1.a.2 2021-10-15 IBC re Village of Lytton Permitting Process for Debris Removal
	9.1.b 2021-12-16 Correspondence from Tricia Thorpe
	9.1.e 2022-01-12 Ross Urquhart Requesting Response
	9.1.f SILGA Advocacy for 2021 Fire Flood Communities
	9.2.a.1 - Girl Guides Landmark Lighting Request
	9.2.a.2 - Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure re Speed Limits
	9.2.a.3 2021-01-12 - FLNRD Geographical Naming Updates
	9.2.a.4 2022-01-19 - Ministry of Municipal Affairs - EQ Program Intake Extension
	9.2.a.5 2022-01-21 Teck Highland Valley Copper Management Change

	10 REPORTS FROM MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS
	11 REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL AND COMMISSIONS
	12 NEW BUSINESS
	13 CALENDAR OF EVENTS/OUSTANDING ITEMS LIST
	14 CLOSED MEETING
	15 ADJOURNMENT



